REGIONAL

DISTRICT
OF NANAIMO
REGIONAL DISTRICT OF NANAIMO

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE
AGENDA

Tuesday, May 9, 2017
7:10 P.M.
RDN Board Chambers

This meeting will be recorded

1. CALL TO ORDER
2. APPROVAL OF THE AGENDA
3. ADOPTION OF MINUTES

3.1 Regular Committee of the Whole Meeting - April 11, 2017

That the minutes of the Regular Committee of the Whole meeting held April 11, 2017,
be adopted.

4, INVITED PRESENTATIONS
4.1 Corey Vanderhorst, MNP, re 2016 Financial Statements and Audit Findings Report
5. DELEGATIONS

5.1 Guy Dauncey, Melissa McConville, and Cayle McConville, Yellow Point Community
Forests group, re 60-acre parcel of forested, undeveloped land in Electoral Area 'A'

5.2 Monica Shore, Dr. Pam Shaw and Dr. David Witty, Mount Arrowsmith Biosphere
Region & Vancouver Island University, Re Memorandum of Understanding between
RDN & VIU for MABR Roundtable

6. CORRESPONDENCE

6.1 Sheila Gurrie, City of Nanaimo, re Municipal Director Appointment to the Regional
District of Nanaimo Board

7. UNFINISHED BUSINESS
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10.

11.

ADMINISTRATION

8.1 Regional Services Review Update

That the selection of the 2018 regional services to be reviewed occur at the Board’s
fall 2017 Strategic Plan review session.

FINANCE

9.1 2016 Financial Statements and Audit Findings Report

1. That the audit findings report and the consolidated financial statements of the
Regional District of Nanaimo for the year ended December 31, 2016 be received.

2. That the consolidated financial statements of the Regional District of Nanaimo for
the year ended December 31, 2016 be approved as presented.

9.2 2017 Gas Tax — Strategic Priorities Fund Grant Applications

That the Board support the following projects for application by the RDN to the Gas
Tax — Strategic Priorities Fund for the 2017 application intake:

1. Capital Stream:
Nanoose Bay Water Service Pump Station - $2 million

2. Capacity Building Stream:
Asset Management Replacement Cost Study - $150,000

RECREATION AND PARKS

10.1 Tribal Journeys 2017

That the Tribal Journeys 2017 report be received for information and RDN Board of
Directors and staff be informed of any volunteer opportunities that may arise from
the event.

REGIONAL AND COMMUNITY UTILITIES

111 Renewal of Agreement for On-Call Electrical Maintenance and Repair for Wastewater
Services

That the Board renew an agreement for on-call electrical maintenance and repair to
Shaw Electrical Services from June 1, 2017 to May 31, 2018, to a maximum
expenditure of $250,000.00. Electrical maintenance services are provided to the
Southern Community, Northern Community, Nanoose and Duke Point Wastewater
Service Areas.
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May 9, 2017
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12.

13.

14.

CoW Agenda
May 9, 2017
11.2 Biosolids Management Program Agreements 73

1. That the Regional District of Nanaimo (RDN) enter into a four-year agreement with
TimberWest Forest Company (TimberWest) to enable biosolids forest fertilization
activities.

2. That the RDN enter into a four-year agreement with the Nanaimo Mountain Bike
Club to coordinate shared land use.

3. That the RDN award SYLVIS Environmental Services (SYLVIS) a four month contract
extension from June 1, 2017 to September 30, 2017 for $162,000 to continue
biosolids forest fertilization activities.

BUSINESS ARISING FROM DELEGATIONS
NEW BUSINESS
131 Directors' Roundtable

ADJOURNMENT



REGIONAL

DISTRICT
OF NANAIMO

REGIONAL DISTRICT OF NANAIMO

MINUTES OF THE REGULAR COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE MEETING

In Attendance:

Also in Attendance:

CALL TO ORDER

Tuesday, April 11, 2017
7:00 P.M.
RDN Board Chambers

Director W. Veenhof
Director |. Thorpe
Director A. McPherson
Director H. Houle
Director M. Young
Director B. Rogers
Director J. Fell
Director J. Stanhope
Director B. McKay
Director B. Bestwick
Director G. Fuller
Director J. Hong
Director J. Kipp
Director B. Yoachim
Director M. Lefebvre
Director B. Colclough
Director T. Westbroek

P. Carlyle

R. Alexander
G. Garbutt
T. Osborne
D. Trudeau
J. Harrison
T. Moore

J. Hill

C. Golding

Chair

Vice Chair

Electoral Area A
Electoral Area B
Electoral Area C
Electoral Area E
Electoral Area F
Electoral Area G
City of Nanaimo
City of Nanaimo
City of Nanaimo
City of Nanaimo
City of Nanaimo
City of Nanaimo
City of Parksville
District of Lantzville
Town of Qualicum Beach

Chief Administrative Officer

Gen. Mgr. Regional & Community Utilities

Gen. Mgr. Strategic & Community Development

Gen. Mgr. Recreation & Parks

Gen. Mgr. Transportation & Emergency Planning Services
Director of Corporate Services

A/Director of Finance

Mgr. Administrative Services

Recording Secretary

The Chair called the meeting to order and respectfully acknowledged the Coast Salish Nations on whose
traditional territory the meeting took place.

The Chair welcomed Director Fuller to the meeting.



Committee of the Whole Minutes - April 11, 2017

APPROVAL OF THE AGENDA

It was moved and seconded that the agenda be approved, as amended, to include late items as outlined
in the Addendum.

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY

ADOPTION OF MINUTES
Regular Committee of the Whole Meeting - March 14, 2017.

It was moved and seconded that the minutes of the Regular Committee of the Whole meeting held
March 14, 2017 be adopted.

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY

DELEGATIONS

Les Anderson, Sherry Durnford, Wilf Worland, Friends of Rails to Trails Vancouver Island, re Request
of Support for Trail Proposal.

Les Anderson shared the vision of Friends of Rails to Trails Vancouver Island to convert the E&N Railbed
to a non-motorized, multi-use recreational trail and asked for the Board's support for the initiative.

Barbara Smith, Silver Spur Riding Club, re Motion #12 to Ban Horses from the Coombs to Parksville
Trail and Accompanying Staff Report.

Barbara Smith spoke in opposition to the recommendation to ban horses on the Coombs to Parksville
Trail and asked the Board to consult with user groups to provide options and solutions that can
accommodate all user groups.

CORRESPONDENCE
Clark Somerville, Federation of Canadian Municipalities, re FCM Legal Defense Fund.

It as moved and seconded that the correspondence from Clark Somerville, Federation of Canadian
Municipalities, regarding the Federation of Canadian Municipalities’ Legal Defense Fund be received.

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY

Todd Stone, Minister of Transportation and Infrastructure, re Follow-up to Meetings at 2016 UBCM
Convention.

It was moved and seconded that the correspondence from Todd Stone, Minister of Transportation and
Infrastructure, regarding follow-up to meetings at the 2016 Union of BC Municipalities Convention be
received.

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY



Committee of the Whole Minutes - April 11, 2017

Carol Cannon, Bowser Seniors Housing Society, re Lease of Crown Land Lots DL36, PT 1 & 2, PL 2076.
Chair Veenhof passed the Chair to Vice Chair Thorpe.

It was moved and seconded that the correspondence from Carol Cannon, Bowser Seniors Housing
Society, regarding the Lease of Crown Land Lots DL36, PT 1 & 2, PL 2076 be received.

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY

It was moved and seconded that staff be directed to prepare a letter to the Ministry of Forests, Lands
and Natural Resource Operations requesting the revision of the Regional District of Nanaimo’s Crown
Lease No. 114348 to amend the boundaries of the lease area in order to allow the Bowser Seniors
Housing Society to submit a Sponsored Crown Grant application for the northern portion of the site for
the purposes of constructing a not-for-profit seniors housing complex.

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY

It was moved and seconded that staff be directed to prepare a letter of support for the Bowser Seniors
Housing Society’s Sponsored Crown Grant application for the purposes of constructing a not-for-profit
seniors housing complex.

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY
Chair Veenhof assumed the Chair.
Correspondence re Delegation by Friends of Rails to Trails Vancouver Island.

It was moved and seconded that the correspondence regarding the proposal by Friends of Rails to Trails
Vancouver Island to convert the E&N railway to trails be received.

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY

COMMITTEE MINUTES AND RECOMMENDATIONS
Liquid Waste Management Planning Monitoring Committee.
Minutes of the Liquid Waste Management Plan Monitoring Committee — March 17, 2017.

It was moved and seconded that the minutes of the Liquid Waste Management Plan Monitoring
Committee Meeting held March 17, 2017 be received for information.

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY

Agricultural Advisory Committee.
Minutes of the Agricultural Advisory Committee Meeting — March 17, 2017.

It was moved and seconded that the minutes of the Agricultural Advisory Committee Meeting held
March 17, 2017 be received for information.

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY



Committee of the Whole Minutes - April 11, 2017

Agricultural Advisory Committee Comments Provided to the Agricultural Land Commission.
It was moved and seconded that the following motion:

That staff be requested to send a letter to the Agricultural Land Commission to invite them to
attend an Agricultural Advisory Committee meeting to discuss the value and impact that the
Committee comments have on the Agricultural Land Commission decisions.

be referred to staff.

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY

It was moved and seconded that Agricultural Advisory Committee members receive mileage reimbursement
for site visits they are asked to attend.

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY

FINANCE
Preliminary Operating Results for the Period ending December 31, 2016.

It was moved and seconded that the report on preliminary financial operating results as at December
31, 2016 be received for information.

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY

CORPORATE SERVICES
2016 Census Impact on Number of Directors and Voting Strength.

It was moved and seconded that the Board delay consideration of the 2016 Census Impact on Number
of Directors and Voting Strength Report until June so that member municipalities can have time to more
closely examine the recommendations.

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY

STRATEGIC AND COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT
Mount Arrowsmith Biosphere — Memorandum of Understanding.
It was moved and seconded:

That the Board authorize the execution of a memorandum of understanding with Vancouver Island
University for the purpose of establishing a foundation for regional cooperation in areas of mutual
benefit that pertain to the Mount Arrowsmith Biosphere Region, and

That the Chair represent the Regional District of Nanaimo on the Mount Arrowsmith Biosphere Region
Roundtable or appoint another Director to attend on his behalf.



Committee of the Whole Minutes - April 11, 2017

It was moved and seconded that the Mount Arrowsmith Biosphere - Memorandum of Understanding
report be referred back to staff.

Opposed (1): Director Houle
CARRIED

Qualicum First Nation/Regional District of Nanaimo Collaboration Protocol Update.

It was moved and seconded that the Regional District of Nanaimo submit a grant application to the
Union of British Columbia Municipalities to support community-to-community activities with Qualicum
First Nation.

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY

2016 Regional Growth Strategy Annual Report.
It was moved and seconded that the Board receive the 2016 Regional Growth Strategy Annual Report.

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY

RECREATION AND PARKS
Horses on the Coombs to Parksville Rail Trail.

It was moved and seconded that staff continue to pursue equestrian parking in relation to equestrian
use of Highway 4A Crown Woodlot.

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY

It was moved and seconded that the matter of finding suitable accommodation for equestrians on
Regional Trails be referred to the Regional Parks and Trails Select Committee.

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY

It was moved and seconded that horses be excluded temporarily from the Coombs to Parksville Trail for
two months.

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY

REGIONAL AND COMMUNITY UTILITIES
Restricting the Use of Throw-away Plastics in the Regional District of Nanaimo.

It was moved and seconded that the Board receive the report on Restricting the Use of Throw-away
Plastics in the Regional District of Nanaimo for information.

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY



Committee of the Whole Minutes - April 11, 2017

Bylaw Nos. 1049.09 and 867.08 - Nanoose Bay Peninsula Water Service Area Expansion,
Electoral Area 'E'.

It was moved and seconded that the Board give three readings to “Nanoose Bay Peninsula Water Service
Area Amendment Bylaw No. 867.08, 2017”.

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY

It was moved and seconded that the Board give three readings to “Nanoose Bay Bulk Water Supply Local
Service Area Amendment Bylaw No. 1049.09, 2017”.

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY

Northern and Southern Communities Wastewater Development Cost Charges.

It was moved and seconded that the Board give third reading to “Northern Community Sewer Service
Area Development Cost Charges Amendment Bylaw No. 1442.03, 2016”.

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY

It was moved and seconded that the Board give third reading to “Southern Community Sewer Service
Area Development Cost Charges Amendment Bylaw No. 1547.01, 2016”.

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY

It was moved and seconded that Bylaw Nos. 1442.03, 2016 and 1547.01, 2016 be forwarded to the
Inspector of Municipalities for approval following third reading.

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY

BUSINESS ARISING FROM DELEGATIONS
Friends of Rails to Trails Vancouver Island.

It was moved and seconded that the Board send a letter to the Island Corridor Foundation in support of
converting the railway to trails from Parksville to Courtenay, and that a copy of the letter be sent to the
Friends of Rails to Trails Vancouver Island.

Opposed (5): Director Houle, Director Fell, Director Stanhope, Director McKay, and Director Lefebvre

CARRIED



Committee of the Whole Minutes - April 11, 2017

NEW BUSINESS
Electoral Area 'H' Community Works Funds.
Chair Veenhof passed the Chair to Vice Chair Thorpe.

It was moved and seconded that up to $100,000 of Community Works Funds designated for Electoral
Area ‘H’ be allocated to the design and implementation plan for the proposed Bowser Sewer Service.

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY
Chair Veenhof assumed the Chair.
Directors' Roundtable.

Directors provided updates to the Board.

IN CAMERA

It was moved and seconded that pursuant to Sections 90 (1) (e) and (m) of the Community Charter the
Committee proceed to an In Camera Meeting for discussions related to land acquisition and
intergovernmental relations.

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY

TIME: 9:21 PM

ADJOURNMENT

It was moved and seconded that this meeting be adjourned.

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY

TIME: 9:30 PM

CHAIRPERSON CORPORATE OFFICER
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Delegation:

Summary:

Action Requested:

Guy Dauncey, Melissa McConville, and Cayle McConville, Yellow Point
Community Forests group, re 60-acre parcel of forested, undeveloped land in
Electoral Area 'A'.

The future of the ecological corridor connecting Wildwood Forest to the Yellow
Point Bog Ecological Reserve and the ocean is at risk, along with the aquifer it
supports and the residential wells that depend on the aquifer.

The corridor faces an immediate choice of two very different futures: one in
which a 60-acre undeveloped forested parcel that is critical to the ecological
health of the corridor is logged for its fiber-value, and another in which the
majority of the 60 acres is protected in perpetuity for its ecological value and for
the public benefit.

We are residents of the Yellow Point area, and we wish to provide information to
the RDN about the Yellow Point ecological park corridor, and the importance of a
60-acre parcel of forested, undeveloped land immediately west of Long Lake
Road and Whiting Way in Electoral Area A that was recently purchased by a
numbered company controlled by the owner of Coastland Wood Industries, with
a view to logging the forest to extract its fiber value.

The forest is part of the rare and endangered Coastal Douglas Fir ecosystem, the
most at-risk zone in BC, home to the highest number of species and ecosystems
at risk in BC, and an acknowledged conservation concern.

It is also a critical component of our fractured bedrock Yellow Point aquifer,
which feeds our local wells, and it contains the headwater catchment basin for
the streams that flow through the Yellow Point Bog Ecological Reserve, Long Lake
and Yellow Point Park through to the ocean at Blue Heron Park. As local
residents, we are very concerned about the threat that logging the 60 acres
poses to the connectivity of the Yellow Point ecological park corridor,
ecologically, hydrologically, and to the potential for a future long-distance trail
that would connect Yellow Point Park through to Wildwood Ecoforest.

A generous alternative offer made by a local resident to the Coastland numbered
company to buy the property off them for more than was paid has been
rejected. Funds for the alternative offer are in place, and the potential new
owner’s intentions are to maximize protection of the 60-acre forest,
incorporating a large portion of it into what would become a permanently
protected ecological park corridor.

We request:

a) that the RDN consider encouraging the Coastland numbered company to
accept the alternative offer, thereby protecting the endangered 60-acre
Coastal Douglas Fir forest and the Yellow Point ecological corridor, and the
aquifer it supports, and

b) that in view of the fact that only two of the three known wetlands on the
property are shown on RDN maps, that the RDN consider ground-truthing
the site to ensure that appropriate measures are taken to protect all of its
wetlands and their riparian zones.
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Delegation:

Summary:

Action Requested:

Monica Shore, Dr. Pam Shaw and Dr. David Witty, Mount Arrowsmith
Biosphere Region & Vancouver Island University, RE Memorandum of
Understanding between RDN & VIU for MABR Roundtable.

The presentation will provide an overview of the Mount Arrowsmith UNESCO
Biosphere Region (MABR)'s organizational structure and Roundtable governance
model. Presenters will describe how management of the MABR was initially
structured when the MABR received official designation as a UNESCO biosphere
reserve in 2000. It will then be described how, following a 2010 periodic review
by the Canada Man and Biosphere (MAB) Committee, there was a period of
transition that led to the compelte restructuring of the MABR, including a new
governance model, a new funding model, new staff, and the establishment of the
Mount Arrowsmith Biosphere Region Research Institute (MABRRI) at Vancouver
Island University. The goal of the presentation is to ensure that all Directors of
the RDN Board understand how and why we now function the way we do, and to
follow up on several months of communication about RDN Board representation
at the MABR Roundtable. It is the delegation's hope that there will be one RDN
Board member (either the Chair or someone appointed by the Chair) and one
staff person (ideally Ms. Julie Pisani) appointed to the MABR Roundtable in time
for the May 11 Roundtable meeting.

A copy of the proposed MOU is provided as background material. This MOU is
identical to the MOU signed by the City of Parksville and the Town of Qualicum
Beach.

A PowerPoint slideshow will accompany this presentation.

The delegation is asking for 10 minutes to present, rather than the standard 5, as
there is much to clarify in a short amount of time, and we hope to be as
thorough and informative as possible.

First, following an informative presentation, the delegation would like to answer
questions from the RDN Board about the current structure and Roundtable of
the Mount Arrowsmith UNESCO Biosphere Region (MABR), helping to clarify
what has changed since the MABR's management shift in 2014.

Secondly, the Director of the MABR, Dr. David Witty (also Provost and Vice-
President Academic of Vancouver Island University) would like to discuss the
signing of a Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) about the co-management
and co-stewardship of the MABR. The MOU would be signed by Dr. Witty on
behalf of VIU and by Mr. Veenhof as Chair of the RDN Board. (MOU attached.)

Lastly, the delegation would like the Board to make a decision as to who shall
represent the RDN at MABR Roundtable. It has been proposed that the Chair of
the Board and Ms. Julie Pisani be appointed as representatives to the
Roundtabe. The MABR's Research Institute at VIU and the RDN's Drinking Water
and Watershed Protection Program have partnered on a medium-term project
and Ms. Pisani's contribution to the Roundtable has been helpful. The next
Roundtable meeting takes place on Thursday, May 11th from 1pm to 3:30pm in
Qualicum Beach.
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CITY OF NANAIMO

THE HARBOUR A GCITY

LEGISLATIVE SR s

April 26, 2017

Ms. Jacquie Hill, Corporate Officer
Regional District of Nanaimo

6300 Hammond Bay Rd

Nanaimo, BC VOT 6N2

Re: Municipal Director Appointment to the Regional District of Nanaimo Board

Pursuant to Section 200 of the Local Government Act which states that upon vacancy of a
municipal director appointed by the City of Nanaimo, the alternate director appointed becomes
the municipal director until a new director is appointed, Councillor Gord Fuller was appointed as
the new permanent director at the 2017-APR-24 Council Meeting.

This is further to my letter of 2017-APR-12, where Councillor Fuller obtained the seat as primary
alternate until another director was appointed.

There has been no motion related to the reassignment of voting; therefore, until such time as
this is brought before Council, Councillor Fuller will obtain the voting weight of the prior director
(W. Pratt).

| trust you find this in order. If you have any questions, please do not hesitate to contact me.

Regards,

S. Gurfie

Corporate Officer
City of Nanaimo

Phone: 250-754-4405 Fax: 250-755-4435 .
455 Wallace Street, Nanaimo, British Columbia, Canada, VIR 5J6 13 www.nanaimo.ca



PN REGIONAL

‘ DISTRICT STAFF REPORT
OF NANAIMO

TO: Committee of the Whole MEETING: May9, 2017
FROM: Dennis Trudeau FILE: 0360 01 RSR
General Manager of Transportation and

Emergency Services

SUBJECT:  Regional Services Review Update

RECOMMENDATION

That the selection of the 2018 regional services to be reviewed occur at the Board’s fall 2017 Strategic
Plan review session.

SUMMARY

The Board direction to review the Regional Parks and Trails service funding allocation will be achieved
using both internal and external consulting resources as provided for in the 2017 budget.

As directed by the Board, Regional District of Nanaimo (RDN) staff completed regional service
discussions with staff of the City of Nanaimo, City of Parksville, Town of Qualicum Beach and the District
of Lantzville. The Council of the District of Lantzville is not interested in undertaking any new services
functions at this time. The input to date resulted in the following list of existing or future services that
could form the basis of service reviews commencing in 2018:

1. Economic Development as a regional service (with the inclusion of filming and tourism)
2. Social Planning as a regional service
3. Business Licensing as a service

The Board’s fall Strategic Planning session is a forum to further consider the input received and to
discuss the 2018 service review priorities.

BACKGROUND

At the January 24, 2017, Regular Board meeting, the Board instructed:
That staff review the Regional Parks and Trails service funding allocations and bring back
a report on options of funding the service in the future, and that staff have discussions

with member municipalities and have a Director’s seminar to narrow down the
preliminary list of services that may be considered for inclusion in a service review.
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Report to Committee of the Whole — May 9, 2017
2017 Regional Services Review
Page 2

The motion has three parts and the following is an update on the progress of staff on addressing the
actions required.

Regional Parks and Trails

On October 4, 2016, the Board considered a report outlining options for funding for the Regional Parks
and Trails function and resolved:

That the Board maintain the parcel taxation at its current level and the use of Parcel Tax
for the Regional Parks Acquisition and Development Fund be deferred to the Regional
Services Review and budget discussions.

A recent review, similar to the review requested by the RDN Board, was completed of the Parks function
in Metro Vancouver and is assistive of how the RDN’s review could be structured. With the assistance of
an external specialized consultant the RDN’s review is anticipated to be completed in late 2017.

Municipal Input

RDN staff discussions on what regional services should be reviewed with staff of the City of Nanaimo,
City of Parksville, Town of Qualicum Beach and the District of Lantzville. The Council of the District of
Lantzville advised “the District of Lantzville is not interested in undertaking any new services functions at
this time.”

As directed by the Board, the following list of services and potential services formed the basis of the
discussions:

Regional Parks and Trails
Oceanside Place
Ravensong Aquatic Centre
Economic Development (Southern Community)
Economic Development (Northern Community)
Water Services
Drinking Water/Watershed Protection
Liquid Waste Management
Solid Waste Management
. Garbage & Recycling
. Transportation
. Transit
. Emergency Planning
. Fire Services
. Long Range Planning
. Building Inspection
. Bylaw Services (Noise, Dog, Unsightly Premises, Business licencing, etc.)
. Social Planning — not currently a RDN service
. Qualicum Beach Airport — not currently a RDN service
. Nanaimo Airport — not currently a RDN service
. Tourism— not currently a RDN service
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Report to Committee of the Whole — May 9, 2017
2017 Regional Services Review
Page 3

22. Filming — not currently a RDN service

23. Labour Relations— not currently a RDN service

24. Cultural Services — not currently a RDN service

25. Port Theatre; Event Centre— not currently a RDN service

While the meetings with the municipalities did not result in any significant concerns relating to the
services provided by the RDN, there were some common themes that arose from the discussions.

1. Economic Development as a regional service (including filming and tourism); on March 28, 2017
the Board requested report on “establishing a regional economic development function.”
A report will be presented in the fall of 2017 outlining options for this service.

2. Social Planning as a regional service

3. Business Licensing as a service

Reviews can be complex and costly exercises yet they are a good method to address concerns, develop
new services or improve the service for those that participate in the function. Past service reviews by
the RDN have looked carefully on the cost distribution to the participants premised on a user pay
philosophy which has resulted in a number of subtle changes to funding formulas over the years.

Next Steps

In addition to progressing on the review of the Regional Parks and Trails service and continuing the
discourse with the staff from the other municipalities, the recommended next step is to during the
Directors’ annual review the Strategic Plan in the fall of 2017 to determine any additional items the
Board wishes to examine in order that those items are incorporated into the 2018 work plan and
budget. The number of items selected and the budget provided, will determine the timeframe for
delivery of subsequent phases of the review

It should also be recognized that Fire Services in the district is requiring more and more RDN staff time
as provincial regulations get stricter and more complex. As the Fire Services review indicated there is
pressure on regional districts to take on a more active role in the management of this important service.
Staff will be reviewing options that can be explored over the next year.

ALTERNATIVES

1. That the selection of the 2018 regional services to be reviewed occur at the Board’s fall 2017
Strategic Plan review session.

2. That the Board provide alternate direction to staff.
FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

The RDN’s 2017 budget contains $100,000 for consulting fees for service review.

16



Report to Committee of the Whole — May 9, 2017
2017 Regional Services Review
Page 4

STRATEGIC PLAN IMPLICATIONS

Performing service reviews is well aligned with the Board’s established Strategic Plan. Part of the intent,
and expected outcome, of a service review is to ensure that existing services, service levels, and
resourcing are all strongly linked to the established strategic priorities.

Dennis Trudeau
dtrudeau@rdn.bc.ca
April 28, 2017

Reviewed by:
e D. Trudeau, General Manager, Transit and Emergency Services
e P. Carlyle, Chief Administrative Officer
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PN REGIONAL

‘ DISTRICT STAFF REPORT
OF NANAIMO

TO: Committee of the Whole MEETING: May9, 2017
FROM: Manvir Manhas FILE: 1870-20
Manager, Capital Accounting & Financial
Reporting

SUBJECT: 2016 Financial Statements and Audit Findings Report

RECOMMENDATIONS

1. That the audit findings report and the consolidated financial statements of the Regional District of
Nanaimo for the year ended December 31, 2016 be received.

2. That the consolidated financial statements of the Regional District of Nanaimo for the year ended
December 31, 2016 be approved as presented.

SUMMARY

The MNP LLP audit of the Regional District of Nanaimo for the year ended December 31, 2016 is
unqualified, assuring readers that based on the audit procedures conducted; the financial statements
are considered to be free of material errors. MNP LLP has submitted their audit findings report to the
Board to ensure the Board is informed of the audit results and the important issues and decisions that
were made during the audit and financial statement preparation process. The audit findings report
confirms the statements present fairly the financial position of the Regional District of Nanaimo as at
December 31, 2016

The 2016 Consolidated Financial Statements have been prepared and audited within the framework of
the accounting policies applicable to local governments in BC. The 2016 final operating results are as
expected with no major variances. The Regional District remains in sound financial health with a good
balance of assets to liabilities and highly liquid cash reserves to meet annual costs.

BACKGROUND

Canadian auditing standards require that audit firms communicate the results of the audit process to
the organization’s board of directors for approval as well as to management staff. The Independent
Auditors’ draft report included in the Audit Findings Report will be signed after final approval of the
financial statements by the Board.

The audit findings report from MNP LLP (Attachment 1) summarizes key elements of the audit
procedures, the roles and responsibilities of the auditors, and contains a discussion of their conclusions
on the information included in the financial statements. There were no items requiring adjustment in
2016. As in prior years, the auditor’s draft report is unqualified, assuring readers that based on the audit
procedures conducted; the financial statements are considered to be free of material errors.
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Report to Committee of the Whole — May 9, 2017
2016 Financial Statements and Audit Findings Report
Page 2

The consolidated financial statements (Attachment 2) present the financial position of the Regional
District as a whole incorporating the operating, reserve and capital funds based on Public Sector
Accounting Board standards for governments as legislated under the Local Government Act. The
consolidated financial statements allow the Board, the management team, and the public to assess the
overall results of all of our activities for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2016.

The approved financial statements will be incorporated into the Regional District’s Annual Report and
Statement of Financial Information to be presented to the Board in June.

ALTERNATIVES

1. Receive the audit findings report and 2016 consolidated financial statements and approve the
2016 consolidated financial statements of the Regional District of Nanaimo for final signatures.

2. Receive the audit findings report and provide alternate direction to staff.
FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

The annual audit fee of $26,250 is included in the Finance Department’s 2016 budget. The post-
employment benefit calculation was performed by an independent actuary which cost $8,000 for 2016.
There are no additional costs at this time.

STRATEGIC PLAN IMPLICATIONS

The Public Sector Accounting Board Standards for financial reporting and auditing require Board
approval of final consolidated financial statements prior to the signing of the audit report. Compliance
with this requirement directly supports the Board governing principle to Be Transparent and
Accountable, which demands transparency in financial reporting and that Directors are accountable to
the public. Based on feedback from MNP LLP, who have formally acknowledged the excellent
cooperation of staff through the audit process, it is evident that this Board value has trickled through
the organization, influencing how staff conduct themselves in their work. In addition, the auditors
conclude that the financial sustainability of the RDN is healthy and trending in a positive direction.

md@&

ahvY

Manvir Manhas
mmanhas@rdn.bc.ca
April 20, 2017

Reviewed by:
e \W. ldema, Director of Finance
e P. Carlyle, Chief Administrative Officer

Attachments:
1. 2016 RDN Audit Findings Report
2. 2016 RDN Consolidated Financial Statements
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Attachment 1

Regional District Of Nanaimo

Report to the Board of Directors
For the Year Ending December 31, 2016
For presentation at the Board of Directors meeting May 9, 2017
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May 9, 2017
Members of the Board of Directors of Regional District Of Nanaimo

Dear Members of the Board of Directors:

We are pleased to submit to you this report for discussion of our audit of the consolidated financial statements of
Regional District Of Nanaimo (the “Regional District") as at December 31, 2016 and for the year then ended. In
this report we cover those significant matters which, in our opinion, you should be aware of as members of the
Board of Directors.

We have completed our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the Regional District which has been
carried out in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards.

Our Independent Audit Report will provide an unqualified opinion to the Board of Directors of the Regional
District. A draft copy of our proposed Independent Auditors' Report is attached at the end of this report.

This report is intended solely for the information and use of the Board of Directors and management and should
not be distributed to or used by any other parties than these specified parties.

The matters raised in this and other reports that will flow from the audit are only those which have come to our
attention arising from or relevant to our audit that we believe need to be brought to your attention. They are not a
comprehensive record of all the matters arising, and in particular we cannot be held responsible for reporting all
risks in your business or all control weaknesses. This report has been prepared solely for your use and should
not be quoted in whole or in part without our prior written consent. No responsibility to any third party is accepted
as the report has not been prepared for, and is not intended for, any other purpose.

We would like to express our appreciation for the excellent cooperation we have received from management and
employees with whom we worked.

We appreciate having the opportunity to meet with you and to respond to any questions you may have about our
audit, and to discuss any other matters that may be of interest to you.

Sincerely,

MNP cee

MNP LLP
Chartered Professional Accountants

CAV/mb
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INTRODUCTION

As auditors, we report to the Board of Directors on the results of our examination of the consolidated financial
statements of Regional District Of Nanaimo (the “Regional District”) as at and for the year ended

December 31, 2016. The purpose of this Audit Findings Report is to assist you, as members of the Board of
Directors, in your review of the results of our audit. To facilitate in your understanding of our findings, Appendix A
to this report summarizes our audit process.

Our report will discuss the status of our engagement, as well as communicate to you significant audit, accounting

and reporting matters arising from our procedures. We hope that this report is of assistance to you, and we look
forward to discussing our findings and answering your questions.

ENGAGEMENT STATUS

We have completed our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the Regional District and are prepared
to sign our Independent Auditors' Report subsequent to completion of the following procedure:

o The Board of Directors's review and approval of the consolidated financial statements.

We expect to have the above procedure completed and to release our Audit Report on May 10, 2017. Our draft
report, which will provide an unqualified opinion, is attached at the end of this report.

SIGNIFICANT AUDIT, ACCOUNTING AND REPORTING MATTERS
CHANGES FROM AUDIT SERVICE PLAN

There were no deviations from the Audit Service Plan previously presented to you.

AREAS OF AUDIT EMPHASIS

The following lists the key areas of our audit emphasis for your Regional District:

o The reasonableness of the estimate of the liability for landfill closure and post-closure maintenance
costs.

Detailed information on Areas of Audit Emphasis is included as Appendix B to this report.

FINAL MATERIALITY

Materiality is a concept used to assess the significance of misstatements or omissions that are identified during
the audit and is used to determine the level of audit testing that is carried out. The scope of our audit work is
tailored to reflect the relative size of operations of the Regional District, and is affected by our assessment of
materiality and audit risk.

Final materiality used for our audit was $2,000,000 for December 31, 2016.

December 31, 2016 Audit Findings — Regional District Of Nanaimo Page 1
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SIGNIFICANT DEFICIENCIES IN INTERNAL CONTROL

Our audit process focuses on understanding the controls utilized in management's reporting systems to the
extent necessary to identify overall and specific financial reporting risks. This risk assessment allows us to
concentrate our audit procedures on high risk areas and, where possible, place reliance on controls within the
financial reporting system to reduce the extent of our testing.

It is important to note that our assessment was not, nor was it intended to be, sufficient to comment or conclude
on the sufficiency of internal controls.

We are required under Canadian generally accepted auditing standards to communicate all significant
deficiencies identified during an audit to the Board of Directors on a timely basis. However, we may not be aware
of all significant deficiencies that do, in fact, exist.

While our review of controls was not sufficient to express an opinion as to their effectiveness or efficiency, no
significant deficiencies in internal control have come to our attention.

DIFFICULTIES ENCOUNTERED

No significant limitations were placed on the scope or timing of our audit.

IDENTIFIED OR SUSPECTED FRAUD

Due to the inherent limitations of an audit and the nature of fraud, including attempts at concealment through
forgery or collusion, an audit conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards
cannot be relied upon to detect fraud.

While our audit cannot be relied upon to detect all instances of fraud, no incidents of fraud, or suspected fraud,
came to our attention in the course of our audit.

IDENTIFIED OR SUSPECTED NON-COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

Nothing has come to our attention that would suggest any non-compliance with laws and regulations that would
have a material effect on the consolidated financial statements.

MATTERS ARISING IN CONNECTION WITH RELATED PARTIES

No significant matters arose during the course of our audit in connection with related parties of the Regional
District.

GOING CONCERN

We have not identified any material uncertainties related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Regional District's ability to continue as a going concern.

We are of the opinion that the going concern assumption is appropriate in preparation of the consolidated
financial statements.

December 31, 2016 Audit Findings — Regional District Of Nanaimo Page 2
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AUDITORS’ VIEWS OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING PRACTICES

The application of Canadian public sector accounting standards allows and requires the Regional District to
make accounting estimates and judgments regarding accounting policies and financial statement disclosures.

As auditors, we are uniquely positioned to provide open and objective feedback regarding your Regional
District's accounting practices, and have noted the following items during the course of our audit that we wish to
bring to your attention.

Accounting Policies

e The accounting policies used by the Regional District are appropriate and have been consistently applied.
Accounting Estimates
Landfill liability

o The unfunded liabilities for landfill closure costs and post-closure monitoring costs represent a
significant liability in the Regional District's financial statements. For 2016 the estimate for landfill
closure costs was $8,721,122 (2015 - $8,495,688), and for post closure maintenance costs was
$4,470,400 (2015 - $4,674,687) for a total landfill liability of $13,191,522 (2015 - $13,170,375).
These costs are an estimate, based on factors such as landfill capacity, remaining unused capacity,
projected future costs to close and to monitor the site, and an appropriate discount rate used to
determine a present value of these future costs. It is important to note that the landfill remaining
unused capacity amount used in the calculation is based on the impact of board-approved capital
projects as at the reporting date. Projects not yet approved that may further increase capacity and
useful life are not factored into the calculation.

During 2016, the Regional District changed its estimated amounts and timing of future post-closure
monitoring costs from the old standard of $575,000 per year for 25 years, to the new standard of 200
years with a declining annual cost ($575,000 each for years 1-5, $475,000 each for years 6-10,
$275,000 each for years 11-25, and $100,000 each for years 26-200). This change is in response to
new Provincial regulations.

Changes to the underlying assumptions and estimates or legislative changes in the new term could
have a material impact on the provision recognized. We have concluded that the accounting related
to the Landfill Closure and Post-Closure Liabilities was appropriate.

Employee future benefits

o Employee retirement benefits include payouts of accumulated, unused sick leave upon an
employee's retirement. As at December 31, 2016, the estimated sick leave liability was $1,777,474
(2015 - $1,789,202). An expense and corresponding liability is recorded now for the estimate of the
future costs of these payouts, related to current service by current employees. This liability is an
estimate, based on factors such as number of current employees in various age groups, number of
recent employees over age 40 who have been employed with the Regional District until retirement,
and an appropriate discount rate used to determine a present value of these future costs. Changes to
the underlying assumptions and estimates or union contract changes in the new term could have a
material impact on the reserve recorded. The estimate also includes assumptions regarding
retirement dates, hours worked and sick time. We have concluded that the accounting related to
Employee Retirement Benefits was appropriate. This estimate is calculated by an actuary hired by
the Regional District.

December 31, 2016 Audit Findings — Regional District Of Nanaimo Page 3
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Parkland and other assets contributed to the Regional District

o Fair value measurement of in-kind additions to tangible capital assets — fair value estimated using
BCAA assessed values for land. Total for 2016 was $1,867,000 (2015 - $322,000).

Allowance for doubtful accounts
o No provision deemed necessary.
Provision for legal contingencies
o No provision deemed necessary.
Amortization period of tangible capital assets
¢ Amortized over the estimated useful life of the respective assets.
Financial Statement Disclosures

The disclosures made in the notes to the consolidated financial statements appear clear, neutral and consistent
with our understanding of the entity and the amounts presented in the consolidated financial statements.

MATTERS ARISING FROM DISCUSSIONS WITH MANAGEMENT

We would like to formally acknowledge the cooperation and assistance we received from the management and
staff of the Regional District.

There were no significant matters discussed, or subject to correspondence, with management that in our
judgment need be brought to your attention.

SIGNIFICANT DIFFERENCES

No significant differences were proposed to management with respect to the December 31, 2016 consolidated
financial statements.

MODIFICATIONS TO THE INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

As discussed earlier, our independent auditors' report will provide an unqualified opinion to the Board of
Directors.

MANAGEMENT REPRESENTATIONS

We have requested certain written representations from management, which represent a confirmation of certain
oral representations given to us during the course of our audit.

AUDITOR INDEPENDENCE

We confirm to the Board of Directors that we are independent of the Regional District. Our letter to the Board of
Directors discussing our independence is included as part of the additional materials attached to this report.

December 31, 2016 Audit Findings — Regional District Of Nanaimo Page 4
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APPENDIX A — MNP Audit Process

Our audit was carried out in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, and included a
review of all significant accounting and management reporting systems, with each material year end balance,
key transaction and other events considered significant to the consolidated financial statements considered
separately.

Our audit process focused on understanding the controls utilized in management's reporting systems to the
extent necessary to identify overall and specific financial reporting risks. This risk assessment enabled us to
concentrate our audit procedures on the areas where differences were most likely to arise. Our assessment was
not, nor was it intended to be, sufficient to conclude on the effectiveness or efficiency of internal controls.

During the course of our audit, we have:

o Examined, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements;

o Assessed the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management;

e Obtained an understanding of the Regional District and its environment, including management's internal
controls (regardless of whether we relied on them for the purpose of the audit), sufficient to identify and
assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements and to design and
perform audit procedures;

¢ Reviewed and assessed those accounting systems deemed necessary to support our audit opinion;

e Evaluated the overall consolidated financial statement presentation;

e Performed a subsequent events review with management;

o Reviewed and assessed the status of contingencies, commitments and guarantees;

o Reviewed and assessed exposure to environmental liabilities.

We have obtained written representations from management, included as additional materials following this
report, in order to confirm oral representations given to us and reduce the possibility of misunderstanding.
Specifically, we have obtained written confirmation of significant representations provided on matters that are:

o Directly related to items that are material, either individually or in the aggregate, to the consolidated
financial statements;

¢ Not directly related to items that are material to the consolidated financial statements, but are significant,
either individually or in the aggregate, to the engagement; and

o Matters relevant to management judgments or estimates that are material, either individually or in the
aggregate, to the consolidated financial statements.

December 31, 2016 Audit Findings — Regional District Of Nanaimo Page 5
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APPENDIX B — Areas of Audit Emphasis

The reasonableness of the estimate of the liability for landfill closure and post-closure maintenance costs:

We reviewed the data and assumptions for the calculation with management in the finance and solid waste
departments. We noted that the liability is based on consultants’ current data and management's best estimate
of future costs. We did not note any errors in the calculation of this liability.

December 31, 2016 Audit Findings — Regional District Of Nanaimo Page 6
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Independent Auditors’ Report

To the Members of the Board of the Regional District of Nanaimo:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of the Regional District.of Nanaimo, which comprise
the consolidated statement of financial position as at December 31, 2016 and the consolidated statements of operations and
accumulated surplus, change in net financial assets and cash flows and related schedules/on pages 25 and 27 to 34 for the
year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Management’s Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in accordance
with Canadian public sector accounting standards, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error.

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements/based on our audit. We conducted our
audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those’ standards require that we comply with
ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial
statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgment, including the assessment of the risks of
material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the
consolidated financial statements in order to design-audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for
the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating
the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as
well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the
Regional District of Nanaimo as at December 31, 2016 and the results of its operations, change in net financial assets and
its cash flows for the year then'ended.in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards.

Other Matter

The supplementary information on pages 26 and 35to 50 have been presented for purposes of additional analysis and are
unaudited. We do not.express an’opinion on these schedules because our examination did not extend to the detailed
information therein.

Nanaimo, British Columbia

May 9, 2017 Chartered Professional Accountants

Suite 400, MNP Place 345 Wallace Street, Nanaimo, British Columbia, VOR 5B6, Phone: (250) 753-8251
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Independence Communication

May 9, 2017

The Board of Directors
Regional District Of Nanaimo
6300 Hammond Bay Road
Nanaimo, BC V9T 6N2

Dear Members of the Board of Directors:

We have been engaged to audit the consolidated financial statements of Regional District Of Nanaimo ("the
Regional District") as at December 31, 2016 and for the year then ended.

CAS 260 Communication With Those Charged With Governance requires that we communicate with you matters
that are significant to our engagement. One such matter is relationships between the Regional District and its
related entities or persons in financial reporting oversight roles at the Regional District and MNP LLP and any
affiliates (“MNP”) that, in our professional judgment, may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence. In
determining which relationships to report, the Standard requires us to consider relevant rules and related
interpretations prescribed by the appropriate professional accounting body and applicable legislation, covering
such matters as:

(a) Holding a financial interest, either directly or indirectly, in a client;

(b) Holding a position, either directly or indirectly, that gives the right or responsibility to exert significant
influence over the financial or accounting policies of a client or a related entity;

(c) Personal or business relationships of immediate family, close relatives, partners or retired partners,
either directly or indirectly, with a client or a related entity;

(d) Economic dependence on a client; and

(e) Provision of non-assurance services in addition to the audit engagement.

We are not aware of any relationship between the Regional District and MNP that, in our professional judgment,
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, which have occurred from January 1, 2016 to

May 9, 2017.

We hereby confirm that MNP is independent with respect to the Regional District within the meaning of the Rules
of Professional Conduct of the Institute of Chartered Professional Accountants of British Columbia as of

May 9, 2017.

This report is intended solely for the use of the Board of Directors, management and others within the Regional
District and should not be used for any other purposes.

We look forward to discussing with you the matters addressed in this letter as well as other matters that may be
of interest to you. We will be prepared to answer any questions you may have regarding our independence as
well as other matters.

Sincerely,

MNP cee

MNP LLP
Chartered Professional Accountants

CAV/mb
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Attachment 2

PO REGIONAL
sl DISTRICT
Management's Responsibility #Reagl OF NANAIMO

To the Members of the Board of the Regional District of Nanaimo:

This statement is provided to clarify and outline the roles and responsibilities of the management team, the
elected Board of Directors and the independent auditors in relation to the preparation and review of the
Regional District of Nanaimo’s annual financial results.

Management is responsible for the preparation and presentation of the accompanying consolidated
financial statements, including responsibility for significant accounting judgments and estimates in
accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards. This responsibility includes selecting
appropriate accounting principles and methods, and making decisions affecting the measurement of
transactions in which objective judgment is required.

In discharging its responsibilities for the integrity and fairness of the consolidated financial statements,
management designs and maintains the necessary accounting systems and related internal controls to
provide reasonable assurance that transactions are authorized, assets are safeguarded and financial records
are properly maintained to provide reliable information for the preparation of financial statements.

The Regional Board of Directors is composed entirely of Directors who are neither management nor
employees of the Regional District. The Board is responsible for overseeing management in the
performance of its financial reporting responsibilities, and for delegating the authority for approval of the
consolidated financial statements. The Board fulfils these responsibilities by reviewing the financial
information prepared by management and discussing relevant matters with management. The Board is also
responsible for recommending the appointment of the Regional District's external auditors. The external
auditors have full and free access to, the Board and management to discuss their audit findings.

MNP LLP, an independent firm of Chartered Professional Accountants, has been appointed by the Regional
Board of Directors to audit the consolidated financial statements and report to them; their report follows.

April 20, 2017

OG5,

Director of Finance
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REGIONAL DISTRICT OF NANAIMO

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2016
2016 2015

Financial Assets
Cash and short-term deposits (Note2) § 65,426,660 S 64,587,923
Accounts receivable (Note3) § 6,145,802 5,055,066
Investments (Note 4) § 31,559,740 26,133,266
Other jurisdictions debt receivable (Note 12) $ 64,943,861 69,103,355
Other assets (Note5) § 94,229 23,139

S 168,170,292 164,902,749
Financial Liabilities
Short-term loans (NoteB) S 371,107 293,141
Accounts payable (Note7) $§ 6,294,470 6,030,009
Other liabilities (Note 8) $ 4,529,854 4,422,319
Unfunded liabilities (Note 9) $§ 12,797,451 12,566,913
Deferred revenue (Note 10) § 22,453,326 20,376,391
Obligation under capital lease (Note 13) $ - 211,227
Long-term debt (Note 11) $ 84,448,850 83,587,908

$ 130,895,058 127,487,908
Net Financial Assets S 37,275,234 37,414,841
Non-financial Assets
Tangible capital assets (Note 14) § 198,227,258 178,169,261
Prepaid expenses $ 1,414,768 861,430
Inventories S 43,399 40,767

$ 199,685,425 179,071,458

Accumulated Surplus

APPROVED:

(Note 15) $ 236,960,659

$ 216,486,299

W. Idema, CPA, CGA
Director of Finance

See notes to consolidated financial statements
o
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REGIONAL DISTRICT OF NANAIMO
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS AND ACCUMULATED SURPLUS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2016

Revenue
Property taxes
Operating revenues
Grant revenues
Developer contributions
Other
Interest on investments
Grants in lieu of taxes
MFA debt surplus refunds

Expenses
General Government
Strategic & Community Development
Wastewater & Solid Waste management
Water, Sewer & Street lighting
Public Transportation
Protective Services
Parks, Recreation & Culture

Surplus for the year

Accumulated surplus, Beginning of the
year

Accumulated surplus, End of the year

See notes to consolidated financial statements

(Note 15)

Budget 2016 2015
(Note 18)

S 45,498,183 45,498,181 S 43,103,564
21,444,852 22,975,645 21,339,433
13,147,353 15,735,117 6,740,947
4,039,254 3,162,137 2,330,833

949,491 918,080 1,117,461
150,000 924,812 1,140,991
149,645 319,413 309,109

- 5,118 163,026

85,378,778 89,538,503 76,245,364
2,186,677 2,734,694 1,693,015
3,933,221 3,481,604 3,299,141
20,111,980 22,796,558 23,096,142
4,755,550 5,484,414 5,551,953
20,017,671 19,218,611 18,696,991
4,324,611 4,708,898 4,494,052
10,734,273 10,639,364 10,424,014
66,063,983 69,064,143 67,255,308

S 19,314,795 20,474,360 S 8,990,056
216,486,299 216,486,299 207,496,243
S 235,801,094 $ 236,960,659 S 216,486,299

_4-
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REGIONAL DISTRICT OF NANAIMO

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGE IN NET FINANCIAL ASSETS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2016

Surplus for the year

Acquisition of tangible capital assets
Amortization of tangible capital assets
Proceeds on disposal of tangible capital assets
Loss (Gain) on disposal of tangible capital assets
Change in prepaid expenses

Change in inventories

Increase (decrease) in Net Financial Assets
Net Financial Assets, Beginning of the year

Net Financial Assets, End of the year (Pg. 3)

Budget 2016 2015

(Note 18)

S 19,314,795 $ 20,474,360 S 8,990,056

(44,814,373) (27,275,629) (8,623,513)

- 6,846,859 6,745,606

- 413,977 13,109

) (43,204) 209,723

- (553,338) (436,428)

- (2,632) (1,634)

(25,499,578) (139,607) 6,896,919

37,414,841 37,414,841 30,517,922

S 11,915,263

$ 37,275,234

S 37,414,841

See notes to consolidated financial statements
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REGIONAL DISTRICT OF NANAIMO
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2016

2016 2015
Operating Transactions
Surplus for the year $ 20,474,360 S 8,990,056
Non-cash items included in surplus
Amortization of tangible capital assets 6,846,859 6,745,606
Contributed tangible capital assets (1,867,000) (322,000)
Loss (Gain) on disposal of tangible capital assets (43,204) 209,723
Debt actuarial adjustments (310,997) (464,576)
Change in non-cash working capital balances related to operations
(Increase) Decrease in accounts receivable (1,090,735) 1,043,686
(Increase) Decrease in other assets (71,090) 2,125
Increase in accounts payable 264,462 3,234,927
Increase in deferred revenues 2,076,935 651,985
Increase (Decrease) in other liabilities 107,535 (693,668)
Increase in prepaid expenses (553,338) (436,428)
Increase in inventory (2,632) (1,634)
Increase in unfunded liabilities 230,538 568,647
Cash provided by operating transactions 26,061,693 19,528,449
Capital Transactions
Acquisition of tangible capital assets (25,408,629) (8,301,513)
Proceeds on disposal of tangible capital assets 413,977 13,109
Cash used in capital transactions (24,994,652) (8,288,404)
Investment Transactions
Cash provided by (used in) investment transactions (5,426,474) (6,109,844)
Financing Transactions
Short and long term debt issued 6,309,389 544,650
Decrease in capital lease obligation (211,229) (471,450)
Repayment of short and long-term debt (899,990) (931,397)
Cash used in financing transactions 5,198,170 (858,197)
Net change in cash and short-term deposits 838,737 4,272,004
Cash and short-term deposits, Beginning of the year 64,587,923 60,315,919
Cash and short-term deposits, End of the year (Pg. 3) (Note 2) $ 65,426,660 $ 64,587,923

See notes to consolidated financial statements
-6-
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REGIONAL DISTRICT OF NANAIMO
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended December 31, 2016

The Regional District was incorporated in 1967 under the provisions of the British Columbia Municipal Act. Its principal activities
are the provision of district wide local government services to the residents of seven electoral areas and four municipalities
within its boundaries. These services include general government administration, bylaw enforcement, planning and development
services, building inspection, fire protection and emergency response planning, public transportation, parks and recreation, water

supply and sewage collection, wastewater disposal, solid waste collection and disposal, and street lighting.

1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a)

Principles of Consolidation

The Regional District follows Canadian public sector accounting standards issued by the Public Sector
Accounting Board (PSAB) of CPA Canada.

Consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the recommendations of the
Public Sector Accounting Board (PSAB). The consolidated financial statements include the activities
related to all funds belonging to the one economic entity of the Regional District. In accordance with
those standards inter-departmental and inter-fund transactions have been removed to ensure financial
activities are recorded on a gross basis. The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a
going concern basis.

The consolidated financial statements include the Regional District of Nanaimo’s proportionate share
of the Arrowsmith Water Service (a joint venture agreement with the City of Parksville and Town of
Qualicum Beach) and the Englishman River Water Service (a joint venture agreement with the City of
Parksville). The Regional District’s share of the joint ventures is accounted for on a proportionate basis
as follows:

Arrowsmith Water Service 22.4%
Englishman River Water Service 26.0%

Any inter-entity transactions are eliminated on consolidation.
Short-term deposits

Short-term deposits are carried at the lower of cost and market value.
Long-term investments

Long-term investments are carried at cost less any amortized premium. It is the intention of the
Regional District to hold these instruments to maturity. Any premium has been amortized on a straight-
line basis using the earlier of the date of maturity or call date.

Non-Financial Assets

i. Tangible capital assets

Tangible capital assets are physical assets that are to be used on a continuing basis, are not for sale in
the ordinary course of operations and have useful economic lives extending beyond a single year.
Section 3150 of Public Sector Accounting Handbook requires governments to record and amortize the
assets over their estimated useful lives. Tangible capital assets are reported at historical cost and
include assets financed through operating budgets, short-term and long-term debt, and leases.
Tangible capital assets when acquired are recorded at cost which includes all amounts that are directly
attributable to the acquisition, construction, development or betterment of the asset. Tangible capital
asset cost less any estimated residual value, is amortized on a straight-line basis over estimated useful
lives as follows:
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1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Asset Category Useful Life Range
(years)
Land n/a
Land Improvements 15-50
Building 20-50
Equipment, Furniture & Vehicles 5-20
Engineering Structures
Water 25-75
Sewer 45 -75
Wastewater 30-75
Solid Waste 20-50
Transportation 20-50

(e)

(f)

In the year of acquisition and in the year of disposal, amortization is recorded as half of the annual
expense for that year. Assets under construction are not amortized until the asset is available for
productive use.

ii. Contributions of tangible capital assets

Tangible capital assets received as contributions (examples are parklands as a result of subdivision,
donated land and infrastructure built by property developers which is transferred to the Regional
District) are recorded as assets and revenues at their fair value at the date of receipt.

iii. Leases
Leases are classified as capital or operating leases. Leases which transfer substantially all of the
benefits and risks incidental to ownership of a property are accounted for as capital leases. All other
leases are accounted for as operating leases and the related lease payments are charged to expenses
as incurred.

iv. Inventories
Inventories held for consumption are recorded at the lower of cost and replacement cost.

Debt servicing cost

Interest is recorded on an accrual basis.

Financial Instruments

Financial instruments consist of cash and short-term deposits, accounts receivable, investments, other
jurisdictions debt receivable, short-term loans, accounts payable, other liabilities and long-term debt.

Unless otherwise noted, it is management's opinion that the Regional District is not exposed to
significant interest, currency or credit risk arising from these financial instruments.
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1.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(g)

(h)

(i)

()

Revenue recognition
Revenues are recorded on an accrual basis and are recognized in the period in which they are earned.

Property tax revenues and grants in lieu are recognized as revenue when levied. Operating revenues
such as user fees, tipping fees, garbage, and recycling collection fees are recognized when charged to
the customer, when amounts are measurable and when collectability is reasonably assured. Interest
on investments is recorded when earned on an accrual basis. Developer contributions are recorded as
deferred revenues when received and recognized as revenue in the year in which the associated
expenditures are incurred. Donations of tangible assets are recognized as revenue on the date of
receipt. Other revenues are recognized as revenue when amounts can be reasonably estimated and
collectability is reasonably assured.

The Regional District recognizes a government transfer as revenue when the transfer is authorized
and all eligibility criteria, if any, have been met. A government transfer with stipulations giving rise
to an obligation that meets the definition of a liability is recognized as a liability. In such
circumstances, the Regional District recognizes revenue as the liability is settled. Transfers of non-
depreciable assets are recognized in revenue when received or receivable.

Expense recognition
Operating expenses are recorded on an accrual basis.

Estimates of employee future benefits are recorded as expenses in the year they are earned. Landfill
closure and post closure costs are recognized as costs as landfill capacity is used.

Contingent liabilities

Contingent liabilities are recognized in accordance with PS 3300, which requires that an estimate be
recorded when it is likely that a future event will confirm that a liability has been incurred by the
financial statement date and that the amount can be reasonably estimated.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Canadian public sector accounting
standards requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts
of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial
statements, as well as the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.
Significant areas requiring management estimates are the determination of employee retirement
benefits, landfill closure and post closure liabilities, likelihood of collection of accounts receivable,
useful lives of tangible capital assets and provisions for contingencies. Liabilities for contaminated sites
are estimated based on the best information available regarding potentially contaminated sites that
the Regional District is responsible for. Actual results may vary from those estimates and adjustments
will be reported in operations as they become known. Changes to the underlying assumptions and
estimates or legislative changes in the near term could have a material impact on the provisions
recognized.
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1.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(k)

Liability for contaminated sites

A liability for remediation of a contaminated site is recognized at the best estimate of the amount
required to remediate the contaminated site when contamination exceeding an environmental
standard exists, the Regional District is either directly responsible or accepts responsibility, it is
expected that future economic benefits will be given up, and a reasonable estimate of the amount
is determinable. The best estimate of the liability includes all costs directly attributable to
remediation activities and is reduced by expected net recoveries based on information available
at December 31, 2016.

At each financial reporting date, the Regional District reviews the carrying amount of the liability.
Any revisions required to the amount previously recognized is accounted for in the period
revisions are made. The Regional District continues to recognize the liability until it is settled or
otherwise extinguished. Disbursements made to settle the liability are deducted from the
reported liability when they are made.

Recent accounting pronouncements

PS 2200 Related Party Disclosures

In March 2015, as part of the CPA Canada Public Sector Accounting Handbook Revisions Release No.
42, the Public Sector Accounting Board (PSAB) issued a new standard, PS 2200 Related Party
Disclosures.

This new Section defines related party and established disclosures required for related party
transactions. Disclosure of information about related party transactions and the relationship
underlying them is required when they have occurred at a value different from that which would
have been arrived at if the parties were unrelated, and they have, or could have, a material financial
effect on the financial statements.

This section is effective for fiscal years beginning on or after April 1, 2017. Early adoption is permitted.

The Regional District does not expect application of the new Standard to have a material effect on the
consolidated financial statements.

PS 3210 Assets

In June 2015, new PS 3210 Assets was included in the CPA Canada Public Sector Accounting
Handbook (PSA HB). The new Section provides guidance for applying the definition of assets set out
in PS 1000 Financial Statement Concepts. The main features of this standard are as follows:

Assets are defined as economic resources controlled by a government as a result of past transactions
or events and from which future economic benefits are expected to be obtained.

Economic resources can arise from such events as agreements, contracts, other government’s
legislation, the government’s own legislation, and voluntary contributions.

The public is often the beneficiary of goods and services provided by a public sector entity. Such
assets benefit public sector entities as they assist in achieving the entity’s primary objective of
providing public goods and services.

A public sector entity’s ability to regulate an economic resource does not, in and of itself, constitute

control of an asset if the interest extends only to the regulatory use of the economic resource and does
not include the ability to control access to future economic benefits.
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1.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

A public sector entity acting as a trustee on behalf of beneficiaries specified in an agreement or
statute is merely administering the assets, and does not control the assets, as future economic
benefits flow to the beneficiaries.

An economic resource may meet the definition of an asset, but would not be recognized if there is no
appropriate basis for measurement and a reasonable estimate cannot be made, or if another
Handbook Section prohibits its recognition. Information about assets not recognized should be
disclosed in the notes.

The standard is effective for fiscal years beginning on or after April 1, 2017. Earlier adoption is
permitted.

The Regional District does not expect application of the new Standard to have a material effect on the
consolidated financial statements.

PS 3320 Contingent Assets

In June 2015, new PS 3320 Contingent Assets was included in the CPA Canada Public Sector
Accounting Handbook (PSA HB). The new Section establishes disclosure standards on contingent
assets. The main features of this Standard are as follows:

Contingent assets are possible assets arising from existing conditions or situations involving
uncertainty. That uncertainty will ultimately be resolved when one or more future events not
wholly within the public sector entity's control occurs or fails to occur. Resolution of the
uncertainty will confirm the existence or non-existence of an asset.

Passing legislation that has retroactive application after the financial statement date cannot
create an existing condition or situation at the financial statement date.

Elected or public sector entity officials announcing public sector entity intentions after the
financial statement date cannot create an existing condition or situation at the financial
statement date.

Disclosures should include existence, nature, and extent of contingent assets, as well as the
reasons for any non-disclosure of extent, and the basis for any estimates of extent made.

When a reasonable estimate can be made, disclosure should include a best estimate and a range
of possible amounts (or a narrower range of more likely amounts), unless such a disclosure would
have an adverse impact on the outcome.

The standard is effective for fiscal years beginning on or after April 1, 2017. Earlier adoption is
permitted. The Regional District does not expect application of the new Standard to have a
material effect on the consolidated financial statements.

PS 3380 Contractual Rights

In June 2015, new PS 3380 Contractual Rights was included in the CPA Canada Public Sector
Accounting Handbook (PSA HB). This new Section establishes disclosure standards on contractual
rights and does not include contractual rights to exchange assets where revenue does not arise.
The main features of this Standard are as follows:

Contractual rights are rights to economic resources arising from contracts or agreements that will
result in both an asset and revenue in the future.
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1.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Until a transaction or event occurs under a contract or agreement, an entity only has a
contractual right to an economic resource. Once the entity has received an asset, it no longer has
a contractual right.

Contractual rights are distinct from contingent assets as there is no uncertainty related to the
existence of the contractual right.

Disclosures should include descriptions about nature, extent, and timing.

The standard is effective for fiscal years beginning on or after April 1, 2017. Earlier adoption is
permitted.

The Regional District does not expect application of the new Standard to have a material effect on
the consolidated financial statements.

PS 3430 Restructuring Transactions

In June 2015, new PS 3430 Restructuring Transactions was included in the CPA Canada Public
Sector Accounting Handbook (PSA HB). The new Section establishes disclosure standards on
restructuring transactions. The main features of this Standard are as follows:

A restructuring transaction is defined separately from an acquisition. The key distinction between
the two is the absence of an exchange of consideration in a restructuring transaction.

A restructuring transaction is defined as a transfer of an integrated set of assets and/or liabilities,
together with related program or operating responsibilities that does not involve an exchange of
consideration.

Individual assets and liabilities transferred in a restructuring transaction are derecognized by the
transferor at their carrying amount and recognized by the recipient at their carrying amount with
applicable adjustments.

The increase in net assets or net liabilities resulting from recognition and derecognition of
individual assets and liabilities received from all transferors, and transferred to all recipients in a
restructuring transaction, is recognized as revenue or as an expense.

Restructuring-related costs are recognized as expenses when incurred.

Individual assets and liabilities received in a restructuring transaction are initially classified based
on the accounting policies and circumstances of the recipient at the restructuring date.

The financial position and results of operations prior to the restructuring date are not restated.

Disclosure of information about the transferred assets, liabilities and related operations prior to
the restructuring date by the recipient is encouraged but not required.

The Section is effective for new restructuring transactions that occur in fiscal periods beginning on
or after April 1, 2018. Earlier application is encouraged.

The Regional District does not expect application of the new Standard to have a material effect on
the consolidated financial statements.
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2.

4.

CASH AND SHORT-TERM DEPOSITS

ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

Province of British Columbia
Government of Canada

Regional and local governments

Gas Tax Revenue Transfer program

BC Transit Annual Operating Agreement
Accrued investment interest

Solid Waste commercial accounts
Utility services customers

Developer DCC instalments

Other trade receivables

INVESTMENTS

Investments at cost less amortized premium

$

$

In 2016, all cash and short-term deposits were held by the General Revenue Fund including $37,343,820 held by
the Municipal Finance Authority. Interest income has been allocated to restricted receipt accounts (development
cost charges), reserve accounts/funds and unexpended loan proceeds for capital projects based on the relative
equity.

2016 2015
10,917 $ 24,972
480,916 510,581
299,688 578,831
1,966,894 603,977
1,049,568 951,827
92,658 223,839
559,942 627,116
431,533 401,399
183,967 328,010
1,069,719 804,514
6,145,802 $ 5,055,066
2016 2015
31,559,740 $ 26,133,266

As at December 31, 2016, the following investments were held by the Regional District:

Market Value

Investment
Amortized Accrued Total Book at December
Purchase Price Interest Value 31, 2016

TD 0.8% deposit note $191,558 - $191,558 $191,558
BNS 1.53% deposit note $5,000,000 $5,240 $5,005,240 $5,005,240
D 1.21% deposit note $5,000,000 $4,475 $5,004,475 $5,000,000
Ccccu 1.65% deposit note $3,049,533 $12,098 $3,061,631 $3,049,533
CCAP 1.60% deposit note $3,000,000 $13,414 $3,013,414 $3,000,000
VANC 1.20% deposit note $3,000,000 $10,257 $3,010,257 $3,000,000
CCAP 1.50% deposit note $2,966,649 $3,048 $2,969,697 $2,966,649
BMO 1.50% extendible note $2,802,000 $7,370 $2,809,370 $2,802,213
VANC 1.30% deposit note $2,500,000 $2,226 $2,502,226 $2,500,000
BMO 1.50% extendible note $2,050,000 $5,981 $2,055,981 $2,027,806
BMO 2.00% extendible note $2,000,000 $1,644 $2,001,644 $2,008,434

$  S31,559,740 S $65,753 S 531,625,493 S  S$31,551,433
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5. OTHER ASSETS

Security deposits for building or development permit applications

6. SHORT-TERM LOANS

2016

94,229 ¢

2015

23,139

During 2016, the Regional District entered into two additional short-term loan agreements totalling $202,190
with the Municipal Finance Authority. In 2016, principal payments of $124,223 were made. The maturity dates of
the loans range between 1 to 5 years. The interest rates for these loans are variable, which at December 31 was

1.44%.

Compactor
Land - Community Parks EA B
Trailer and Kubota

Short-term loan payments for the next five years are:

2017 2018 2019
$168,790 $48,314 $3,603
7. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE

Payable to Federal Government
Payable to Provincial Government
Payable to other local governments
Trade and other payables

8. OTHER LIABILITIES

Wages and benefits payable

Retirement benefits payable - see note 9(a) i
Other benefits payable

Permit deposits

434

2016 2015
168,917 S 293,141
188,000 -
14,190 -
371,107 S 293,141
2021 TOTAL
$150,400 $371,107
2016 2015
184,852 S 179,392
649,643 599,718
344,667 333,231
5,115,308 4,917,668
6,294,470 S 6,030,009
2016 2015
1,415,977 S 1,221,031
2,429,167 2,673,985
281,437 153,288
403,273 374,015
4,529,854 S 4,422,319
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9. UNFUNDED LIABILITIES

Unfunded liabilities represent the estimated amount of cumulative future expenditures required to meet
obligations which result from current operations. These liabilities are related to contractual employment
obligations and landfill operations which are governed by Provincial statute. Special reserves which have

been set aside to meet those obligations are described below.

(a) Employee Benefits

i. Retirement Benefits - The Regional District provides vested sick leave benefits to its
employees who retire where they can qualify for a one time payout of up to 60 days of
their accumulated unused sick leave. The amount recorded for these benefits is based on
an actuarial evaluation done by an independent firm using a projected benefit actuarial

valuation method prorated on service.

December 31, 2016.

The accrued post-employment benefits are as follows:

Balance, beginning of year

Current service costs

Benefits paid

Interest cost

Amortization of Net Actuarial Loss/ (Gain)
Balance, end of year

$

S

The actuarial valuation was calculated at

2016 2015
1,789,202 $ 1,733,207
146,529 143,052
(181,278) (109,663)
50,889 47,549
(27,868) (24,943)
1,777,474 $~ 1,789,202

The significant actuarial assumptions adopted in measuring the Regional District’s post-employment

benefits are as follows:

Discount Rate
Expected Inflation Rate and Wage & Salary Increases

Balance reported in Note 8

Retirement benefits payable

Consolidation adjustment for actuarial valuation
Accrued benefit balance, end of year

$
S

2016 2015
3.30% 3.10%
2.50% 2.50%
2016 2015
2,429,167 § 2,673,985
(651,693) (884,783)
1,777,474 $ 1,789,202

ii. Other — Includes vacation pay adjustments and statutory and other benefits provided for
in the collective agreement and which are paid in the normal course of business in the
following year. The vacation pay liability at December 31, 2016 is $112,303 (2015,
$165,877). The statutory benefits liability at December 31, 2016 is $145,318 (2015,

$115,444).

(b) Landfill Closure and Post Closure Maintenance Costs

In accordance with PS 3270, liabilities with respect to permanently closing and monitoring a landfill are
incurred as landfill capacity is used. Landfill Closure costs include placing a permanent cover over the face
of the landfill. Post Closure Maintenance costs include landfill gas monitoring, leachate collection system
operation and general site maintenance for a period of 200 years after the landfill is permanently closed.
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9.

UNFUNDED LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)

i. Landfill Closure costs - are estimated based on the open area of the remaining unused capacity of the

landfill site. In 2009, a revised design and operations plan was approved for the landfill which
provides additional airspace for future needs. This plan extended the estimated life of the landfill to
2030 which has since been updated to 2038 based on most recent usage data. The plan includes
remediation and reuse of previously filled areas as well as extending perimeter berms for the
development of new airspace.

At December 31, 2016, there were approximately 1,697,987 cubic meters of airspace available for
waste and daily cover. Landfill Closure costs are estimated at $8,721,122 (2015, $8,495,688). As at
December 31, 2016, $1,494,261 (2015, $1,472,802) has been set aside in reserves for this purpose.
The balance of Landfill Closure costs are expected to be funded by a combination of future reserve
account contributions, operating budgets and/or borrowing.

ii. Post Closure Maintenance costs — are costs estimated to manage the closed landfill for a statutory

period of 200 years (increased from 25 years in 2015). Post Closure Maintenance costs are estimated
using a number of factors including the percentage of landfill capacity already filled, the probable
closure date, the regulated monitoring period, the estimated annual maintenance costs and a present
value discount rate which is the difference between the long-term MFA borrowing rate and the 5 year
average Consumer Price Index. The current estimate for annual Post Closure Maintenance costs are
$575,000 for year 1-5; $475,000 for year 6-10; $275,000 for year 11-25; and $100,000 for year 26-200
(2015, $575,000 per year for 25 years). Total Post Closure Maintenance costs are estimated to be
$4,470,400 (2015, $4,674,687) based on 64% of the total landfill capacity being filled at this date, a 22
year lifespan to 2038, final closure in 2039, and a discount rate of 1.92%. Post Closure Maintenance
costs are expected to be funded by annual budget appropriations in the years in which they are
incurred.

Unfunded Liability Balances 2016 2015
Employee Retirement Benefits S (651,693) (884,783)
Employee Other Benefits 257,622 281,321
Landfill Closure Costs 8,721,122 8,495,688
Post Closure Maintenance Costs 4,470,400 4,674,687
Unfunded Liability S 12,797,451 12,566,913
Reserves On Hand S 1,494,261 1,472,802

10. DEFERRED REVENUE

2016 2015
Parkland Cash-in-Lieu receipts S 1,716,243 1,691,619
Development Cost Charges 12,070,854 10,837,478
Subtotal (Pg. 34) 13,787,097 12,529,097
Gas Tax Revenue Transfer program — Community Works Fund 8,097,324 7,331,503
General Revenue Fund 568,905 515,791
S 22,453,326 20,376,391
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10.

11.

12,

DEFERRED REVENUE (CONTINUED)

Parkland Cash-in-Lieu - are amounts collected from developers under the authority of Section 941 of the
Local Government Act, where the Board has determined that cash rather than land for parkland purposes
may be accepted as a condition of subdivision. These funds are held for the purpose of purchasing parkland.

Development Cost Charges - are amounts collected or payable as a result of new subdivision or building
developments under the authority of Section 933 of the Local Government Act. The purpose of Section 933
is to collect funds for infrastructure which will be built as a result of population growth. Development Cost
Charge bylaws have been enacted for the future expansion of wastewater treatment facilities and a bulk
water system.

Community Works Fund - is a program component of the federal government's “New Building Canada
Fund” which was established to transfer a portion of gas tax revenues to local governments to address
infrastructure deficits. Additional information on the Regional District of Nanaimo’s use of the Community
Works Fund grants is included in the schedule on Pg. 35.

LONG-TERM DEBT

Debt is recorded and payable in Canadian dollars. It is the current policy of the Municipal Finance Authority to
secure debt repayable only in Canadian dollars.

Details of long-term debt, including debt issue numbers, maturity dates, interest rates and outstanding
amounts, are summarized in the Schedule of Long-Term Debt on pages 28 to 31.

2016 2015
Long-term debt - Regional District services S 19,504,989 $ 14,484,553
Vancouver Island Regional Library 15,192,042 15,582,525
Member municipalities 49,751,819 53,520,830
Total Long-Term Debt S 84,448,850 $ 83,587,908

Payments of principal on issued debt of the Regional District, not including member municipalities, for the next
five years are:

2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 TOTAL
$1,353,550 $1,353,655 $1,311,203 $1,307,167 $1,307,280 $6,632,855

OTHER JURISDICTIONS DEBT RECEIVABLE

Pursuant to the Local Government Act, the Regional District acts as the agency through which its member
municipalities and other jurisdictions borrow funds from the Municipal Finance Authority. The annual cost of
servicing this debt is recovered entirely from the borrowing jurisdiction. However, the Regional District is joint
and severally liable for this debt in the event of default.

2016 2015
Town of Qualicum Beach S 4,166,428 S 4,629,364
City of Parksville 1,660,091 2,043,770
City of Nanaimo 43,925,300 46,847,696
Vancouver Island Regional Library 15,192,042 15,582,525

3 64,943,861 S 69,103,355
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13.

14,

15.

OBLIGATION UNDER CAPITAL LEASE

There were no outstanding obligation balances for leased capital assets as at December 31, 2016 (2015,
$211,227). The 2016 capital lease principal payments totalled $211,227 (2015, $471,450).

All capital leases had been held by the MFA Leasing Corporation. While payments were fixed for the term of the
lease, interest rates were variable daily based upon the Canadian prime rate minus 1.0%. An interest
adjustment may be made at the time of the final payment. In 2016, interest expenditures related to lease
liabilities were $3,494 (2015, $10,839).

TANGIBLE CAPITAL ASSETS

Net Book Value 2016 2015
Land 40,194,826 S 38,418,795
Land improvements 5,625,050 5,649,256
Buildings 32,623,629 31,446,591
Engineered structures 99,823,719 87,955,159
Equipment, furniture and vehicles 8,775,919 8,265,091
Assets under construction 11,184,115 6,434,369
S 198,227,258 S 178,169,261
Owned tangible capital assets S 198,227,258 $ 177,991,917
Leased assets - 177,344
S 198,227,258 S 178,169,261

In 2016, parkland dedications and a wharf on Gabriola Island valued at $1,867,000 were accepted and recorded
as contributed assets. During 2015, parkland dedications and land used as a site for a community water supply
well valued at $322,000 were accepted and recorded as contributed assets.

The Consolidated Schedule of Tangible Capital Assets (Pg. 27) provides details of acquisitions, disposals and
amortization for the year.

ACCUMULATED SURPLUS

The financial operations of the Regional District are divided into three funds: capital fund, general revenue fund
and reserve fund. For accounting purposes, each fund is treated as a separate entity.

General Revenue Fund — represents the accumulated operating surplus of the Regional District which has not
otherwise been allocated by the Board as reserves for special purposes.

Capital Fund — represents amounts which have been expended by or returned to the General Revenue Fund or
a Reserve Fund for the acquisition of tangible capital assets and includes related debt and refunds of debenture
debt sinking fund surpluses.

Reserves - represents that portion of the accumulated operating surplus that has been set aside to fund

future expenditures. It includes both statutory reserves created by bylaw under the authority of the Local
Government Act and reserve accounts, which may be used by the Board without legislative restrictions.
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15. ACCUMULATED SURPLUS (CONTINUED)

The Accumulated Surplus consists of individual fund surpluses (deficits) and reserves as follows:

2016 2015
Surplus

General Revenue Fund Net Operating Surplus (Note 16) S 12,328,194 S 11,970,660
Net investment in Tangible capital assets (Note 17) 178,351,162 163,180,340
Capital Fund advances (97,812) (991,006)
Unfunded liabilities (12,797,451) (12,566,913)
177,784,093 161,593,081

General Revenue Fund Reserve Accounts
Landfill expansion 281,522 277,479
Landfill closure 1,494,261 1,472,802
Property insurance deductible-fire departments 31,240 31,429
Liability insurance deductible 151,675 149,497
Regional Sustainability Initiatives 22,275 75,298
Island Corridor Foundation 799,000 809,000
Dashwood Fire 7,516 -
San Pareil Boundary Amendment 10,000 -
Regional parks and trails donations 57,174 39,487
Vehicle fleet replacement (various departments) 1,097,949 583,942
3,952,612 3,438,934
Statutory Reserve Funds (Pg. 33) S 55,223,954 § 51,454,284

59,176,566 $ 54,893,218
236,960,659 S 216,486,299

Total Reserves
Accumulated Surplus (Pg. 3)

wr N

16. CONSOLIDATION ADJUSTMENTS

The figures reported in the consolidated financial statements differ from the supporting schedules due to
differences in grouping and presentation as well as the elimination of inter-fund and inter-departmental
transactions. The Net Operating Surplus in the General Revenue Fund Schedule of Revenue and Expenditures
has been adjusted as follows to conform to PSAB requirements:

2016 2015
Net Operating Surplus (Pg. 36) S 12,163,068 S 11,826,779
Add: Water User Fee Revenue year end accrual (billed May 2017) 165,126 143,881
Net Operating Surplus adjusted for statement presentation (Note 15) S 12,328,194 S 11,970,660
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17.

18.

19.

NET INVESTMENT IN TANGIBLE CAPITAL ASSETS

Net investment in Tangible capital assets represents the historic
obligations incurred to purchase and develop the infrastructure.

Tangible capital assets (Pg. 3)

Short-term loans (Pg. 3)

Obligation under capital lease (Pg. 3)

Long-term debt - Regional District only (Note 11)
Net investment in Tangible capital assets (Note 15)

BUDGET FIGURES

cost of capital expenditures less debt

$

$

2016 2015
198,227,258 $ 178,169,261
(371,107) (293,141)
- (211,227)

(19,504,989) (14,484,553)

178,351,162 S 163,180,340

Budget figures represent the Financial Plan Bylaw adopted by the Board on March 22, 2016. The financial plan
includes capital expenditures but does not include amortization expense. The financial plan forms the basis for
taxation and fees and charges rates which may be required for a particular year. The following reconciliation of
the budgeted “Surplus for the year” shown on Pg. 4 is provided to show which items must be added or
removed to reflect to the budgeted financial plan values which are shown compared to actual expenditures on

Pg. 36 (General Revenue Fund Schedule of Revenue and Expenditures).

Budgeted Surplus for the year (Pg. 4)
Add:
Transfers from reserves
Proceeds of borrowing
Prior year operating surplus
Less:
Capital expenditures
Prior Year consolidation adjustments
Debt principal repayments/actuarial adjustments

Budgeted principal payments 4,787,627
Add: Actuarial Adjustments 310,997
Less: Principal payments for member municipalities (3,185,994)

Capital lease principal payments included in equipment

operating expenditure
Transfer to reserves

Consolidated Budgeted Surplus, per Regional District
of Nanaimo Financial Plan Bylaw No.1740 (Pg. 33)

MUNICIPAL FINANCE AUTHORITY RESERVE DEPOSITS

2016 Budget

S 19,314,795

16,030,923
14,974,713
11,826,779

(44,814,373)
(344,293)

(1,912,630)

(88,059)
(8,456,997)

$ 6,530,858

The Regional District secures its long-term borrowing through the Municipal Finance Authority. As a condition
of these borrowings, a portion of the debenture proceeds are retained by the Authority as a debt reserve fund.
As at December 31, 2016, the Regional District had debt reserve funds of $360,247 (2015, $294,128).
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REGIONAL DISTRICT OF NANAIMO
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended December 31, 2016

20.

21.

22,

23.

NORTH ISLAND 9-1-1 CORPORATION

A 9-1-1 emergency call answering service is provided by the North Island 9-1-1 Corporation, which is owned by
the Regional Districts of Comox Valley, Strathcona, Mount Waddington, Alberni Clayoquot, Nanaimo and Powell
River. The shares in the corporation are owned as follows:

Alberni Clayoquot 3 shares
Comox Valley 6 shares
Strathcona 4 shares
Mount Waddington 1 share

Nanaimo 5 shares
Powell River 2 shares

The Regional District’s investment in shares of the North Island 9-1-1 Corporation is recorded at cost as it does
not fall under the definition of a government partnership (PS 3060.06). The Regional District's share of the
corporation is equal to 23.8% and the degree of control is proportionate to the ownership share. As no benefits
are expected from the ownership, it has not been accounted for as an equity investment.

PENSION LIABILITY

The Regional District of Nanaimo and its employees contribute to the Municipal Pension Plan (the Plan), a jointly
trusteed pension plan. The Board of Trustees, representing plan members and employers, is responsible for
overseeing the management of the Plan, including investment of the assets and administration of benefits. The
Plan is a multi-employer contributory pension plan. Basic pension benefits provided are based on a formula. The
Plan has about 189,000 active members and approximately 85,000 retired members. Active members include
approximately 324 contributors from the Regional District of Nanaimo.

The most recent actuarial valuation as at December 31, 2015 indicated a $2.224 billion funding surplus for basic
pension benefits. Employers participating in the Plan record their pension expense as the amount of employer
contributions made during the fiscal year (defined contribution pension plan accounting). This is because the
Plan records accrued liabilities and accrued assets for the Plan in aggregate, with the result that there is no
consistent and reliable basis for allocating the obligation, assets and cost to the individual employers
participating in the Plan.

The Regional District of Nanaimo paid $1,947,226 (2015, $2,051,074) for employer contributions to the Plan in
fiscal 2016.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Contingent liabilities are recognized by the Regional District in accordance with PS 3300.15. As at December 31,
2016, there were outstanding claims against the Regional District, however, no liability has been accrued
because amounts are undeterminable and the likelihood of the Regional District having to make payment is
uncertain.

ENVIRONMENTAL REGULATIONS

The Regional District is subject to environmental regulations which apply to a number of its operations. These
regulations may require future expenditures to meet applicable standards and subject the Regional District to
possible penalties for violations. Amounts required to meet these obligations will be charged to operations
when incurred and/or when they can be reasonably estimated.
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REGIONAL DISTRICT OF NANAIMO
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended December 31, 2016

24.

25.

EXPENDITURES BY OBJECT
Budget 2016 2015

Operating goods and services S 34,380,544 S 31,956,377 S 30,566,062
Wages and benefits 30,665,186 29,012,116 28,219,036
Debt interest 1,018,253 1,018,253 1,155,957
Amortization expense - 6,846,859 6,745,606
Unfunded expenditures (Note 9) - 230,538 568,647
Total Expenditures by Object S 66,063,983 S 69,064,143 S 67,255,308

ARROWSMITH WATER SERVICE AND ENGLISHMAN RIVER WATER SERVICE JOINT VENTURES

The Arrowsmith Water Service (AWS) was formed in 1996 as a joint venture between the Regional District of
Nanaimo, the City of Parksville and the Town of Qualicum Beach. The AWS was established to develop a bulk
water supply available to the participants in the service and to construct the Arrowsmith Dam as a first step in
that development as well as to provide for protection of the fisheries habitat of the Englishman River.

The Englishman River Water Service (ERWS) is a joint venture between the City of Parksville and the Regional
District of Nanaimo, formed to secure a bulk water supply from the Englishman River. This regional partnership
supplements existing well supply sources owned and operated by the City of Parksville and Nanoose Bay
Peninsula Water Service Area. The ERWS development plan includes a new river water supply intake, new water
treatment plant and distribution system.

Financial results and budget for the joint ventures are consolidated in the Regional District of Nanaimo’s
financial statements proportionately based on the joint venture agreements: 22.4% of the Arrowsmith Water

Service and 26% of the Englishman River Water Service.

The following table summarizes the financial statements of the two joint ventures.

Englishman
Arrowsmith River Water
Water Service Service
2016 2016
Non-financial assets (tangible capital assets) S 6,457,416 $ 6,083,174
Accumulated surplus 6,457,416 6,083,174
Revenues
Joint venturer contributions S 155,697 S 2,873,154
Capital grant - 828,854
155,697 3,702,008
Expenses
Operating 137,227 9,714
Capital - 828,854
Transfer of land to partners - 1,233,797
S 137,227 $ 2,072,365
Annual surplus (deficit) S 18,470 S 1,629,643
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REGIONAL DISTRICT OF NANAIMO
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended December 31, 2016

26. CONTAMINATED SITES
At the reporting date, only one site was identified as potentially contaminated due to past industrial use at
this site and on the neighbouring property; these findings remain unchanged from the December 31, 2015
year end. For this site there is insufficient information to determine whether contamination exceeding the

relevant environmental standard is likely to exist, or whether remediation is required. The future cost and
responsibility for remediation of this site is not currently determinable.

27. COMPARATIVE FIGURES

Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to conform to the presentation adopted in the current year.

28. SUBSEQUENT EVENT

Subsequent to the year end, the Regional District received a parkland dedication valued at $1,837,000 in
Electoral Area F.
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REGIONAL DISTRICT OF NANAIMO
CONSOLIDATED SCHEDULE OF REVENUE AND EXPENSES BY SEGMENT
as at December 31, 2016

PS2700 requires that governments define and disclose additional information related to its activities, by segment.
Regional Districts are required by the Local Government Act to charge or allocate all expenses directly or reasonably
attributable to a service, to that service. The information in these financial statements conforms in all respects to the
requirements of the Local Government Act.

For the purposes of PS2700 the segmented information above corresponds to the classification of expenses shown on
the Consolidated Statement of Operations. The expense classifications on the Consolidated Statement of Operations
represent the major activities provided by the Regional District of Nanaimo.

The following activities are included in the segments shown on Pg. 25:

General Government includes overall administration, legislative services including elections and feasibility studies.
These services are paid for by multiple member jurisdictions of the Regional District and affect most taxpayers
residing in the Regional District of Nanaimo. Schedule A on Pg. 38 of this report provides additional details with
respect to revenues and expenditures for services falling under General Government.

Planning & Development includes community and regional land use planning, house numbering and building
inspection. Planning & Development services are largely paid for by Electoral Areas of the Regional District of
Nanaimo. Schedules B and B-1 on Pgs. 39-40 of this report provide additional details with respect to revenues and
expenditures for each of these services.

Wastewater & Solid Waste includes sewage treatment plants and solid waste disposal activities, including programs
for garbage collection and recycling. The Regional District operates two treatment plants in both the northern and
southern portions of the Regional District. A solid waste landfill and transfer station are funded at a regional level,
with garbage collection & recycling services provided in areas outside of the City of Nanaimo. Detailed revenue and
expenditure information on wastewater treatment plants is found on Schedule C-1, Pg. 42 of this report. Detailed
revenue and expenditure information on solid waste management is found on Schedule C, Pg. 41.

Water, Sewer & Street lighting includes neighbourhood water supply, sewage collection systems and street lights.
Only taxpayers within these areas pay for the service. Detailed revenue and expenditure information on these
services can be found on Schedules C-2, C-3 and C-4 (Pgs. 43-45) of this report.

Public Transportation includes conventional and HandyDart bus service. Public transit services are available to the
City of Nanaimo, City of Parksville, Town of Qualicum Beach, Electoral Area G and portions of Electoral Areas A, E and
C. Detailed revenue and expenditure information on transportation services is found on Schedule E, Pg. 48 of this
report.

Protective Services includes volunteer and contract fire protection services, emergency planning, bylaw enforcement
and the Regional District’s participation in E911 services. Detailed revenue and expenditure information on protective
services is found on Schedules E-1 and E-2, Pgs. 49-50 of this report.

Parks, Recreation & Culture includes operations and development of community and regional parks, provision of
recreation programming, operation of a multiplex arena and aquatic centre and includes some services provided by
agreement with municipalities within the Regional District of Nanaimo. Detailed revenue and expenditure information
on parks, recreation & culture services is found on Schedules D and D-1, Pgs. 46-47 of this report.

See notes to consolidated financial statements
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REGIONAL DISTRICT
RAVENSONG AQUATIC CENTRE
OCEANSIDE PLACE ARENA
REGIONAL PARKS
COMMUNITY PARKS
WASTEWATER MANAGEMENT
- Northern Community (District 69)
- Southern Community (District 68)
FIRE PROTECTION
SEWER SERVICES
WATER SUPPLY SERVICES
VANCOUVER ISLAND REGIONAL LIBRARY
TOTAL REGIONAL DISTRICT

MEMBER MUNICIPALITIES

TOTAL LONG-TERM DEBT (Pg. 3)

REGIONAL DISTRICT OF NANAIMO

LONG-TERM DEBT SUMMARY BY FUNCTION

DECEMBER 31, 2016

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016
895,635 611,532 313,224 - -
4,659,501 4,314,003 3,954,686 3,580,996 3,192,358

- 2,053,653 1,984,688 1,912,964 1,838,371

356,256 333,617 310,004 285,373 259,679
255,536 - - - -

- - - - 5,000,000
1,747,681 1,656,878 4,352,441 4,160,535 4,189,644
2,004,725 1,915,450 1,822,604 1,956,994 1,848,406
2,272,174 2,030,455 2,891,369 2,587,690 3,176,528
7,857,359 16,319,013 15,957,989 15,582,525 15,192,042

20,048,868 29,234,601 31,587,005 30,067,078 34,697,031

34,948,088 45,903,812 52,213,097 53,520,830 49,751,819

54,996,956 75,138,413 83,800,102 83,587,908 84,448,850
See notes to consolidated financial statements
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REGIONAL DISTRICT OF NANAIMO
SCHEDULE OF LONG-TERM DEBT

DECEMBER 31, 2016
BYLAW  MATURITY  INTEREST  ORIGINAL 2016 DEBT 2015 DEBT
FUNCTION ISSUER FUNDS NUMBER DATE RATE VALUE o/s 0/s
OCEANSIDE PLACE ARENA
MFA 97 CDN 1365  Apr 19,2023 4.830 6,470,646 3,192,358 3,580,996
TOTAL OCEANSIDE PLACE ARENA 6,470,646 3,192,358 3,580,996
REGIONAL PARKS
MFA 126 CDN 1629  Sep 26,2033 3.850 2,053,653 1,838,371 1,912,964
TOTAL REGIONAL PARKS 2,053,653 1,838,371 1,912,964
COMMUNITY PARKS
ELECTORAL AREA B
MFA 78 CDN 1299  Dec 03,2022 5.250 100,000 40,729 46,431
MFA 79 CDN 1303  Jun 03,2023 5.250 80,000 37,145 41,490
MFA 81 CDN 1304  Apr22,2024 4.900 80,000 41,490 45,628
MFA 93 CDN 1305  Apr 06, 2025 5.100 80,000 41,001 45,010
MFA 97 CDN 1306  Apr 19, 2026 4.660 80,000 47,745 51,569
MFA 101 CDN 1307  Apr11,2027 4.520 80,000 51,569 55,246
TOTAL COMMUNITY PARKS 500,000 259,679 285,374
FIRE PROTECTION SERVICES
MEADOWOOD FIRE
MFA 110 CDN 1587  Apr 08, 2030 4.500 1,773,410 1,378,388 1,450,845
NANAIMO RIVER FIRE
MFA 99 CDN 1488  Apr 19,2027 4.430 20,761 12,390 13,383
NANOOSE BAY FIRE
MFA 130 CDN 1617  Oct 14, 2034 3.000 2,790,000 2,598,866 2,696,307
COOMBS-HILLIERS FIRE
MFA 139 CDN 1538  Oct5, 2026 2.100 200,000 200,000 -
TOTAL FIRE PROTECTION SERVICES 4,784,171 4,189,644 4,160,535
SEWER SERVICES
BARCLAY CRESCENT SEWER
MFA 102 CDN 1486  Dec 01,2027 4.820 895,781 577,431 618,599
CEDAR SEWER
MFA 106 CDN 1571  Oct 13, 2029 4.130 926,180 680,521 719,876
MFA 106 CDN 1572 Oct 13, 2029 4.130 27,200 19,986 21,141
MFA 106 CDN 1573 Oct 13, 2029 4.130 108,800 79,942 84,565
MFA 106 CDN 1574  Oct 13, 2029 4.130 61,200 44,967 47,568
MFA 110 CDN 1584  Apr 08, 2030 4.500 232,286 180,545 190,036
MFA 117 CDN 1626  Oct 12, 2031 3.250 51,620 42,231 44,259
1,407,286 1,048,192 1,107,445
HAWTHORNE RISE SEWER
MFA 131 CDN 1696  Apr 8, 2035 2.200 173,300 167,172 173,300
REID ROAD SEWER
MFA 133 CDN 1709  Oct 2, 2035 2.750 57,650 55,611 57,650
TOTAL SEWER SERVICES $ 2534017 $ 1,848,406 $ 1,956,994

See notes to consolidated financial statements
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REGIONAL DISTRICT OF NANAIMO
SCHEDULE OF LONG-TERM DEBT
DECEMBER 31, 2016

BYLAW MATURITY  INTEREST  ORIGINAL 2016 DEBT 2015 DEBT
FUNCTION ISSUER FUNDS NUMBER DATE RATE VALUE o/s o/s
WATER - SAN PAREIL
MFA 74 CDN 1221 Jun 01, 2016 5.900 193,979 - 17,798
MFA 81 CDN 1367  Apr 22,2019 4.900 89,476 23,475 30,567
MFA 97 CDN 1395  Apr 19,2021 4.660 40,000 16,016 18,859
MFA 106 CDN 1395  Oct 13,2024 4.130 94,439 57,188 63,155
MFA 117 CDN 1395  Oct 12, 2026 3.250 49,056 35,786 38,653
466,950 132,465 169,033
WATER - SAN PAREIL FIRE IMPROVEMENTS
MFA 127 CDN 1689  Apr 07,2034 3.300 1,114,600 1,038,242 1,077,170
1,114,600 1,038,242 1,077,170
WATER - DRIFTWOOD
MFA 80 CDN 1301  Oct 03,2023 4.900 100,614 46,716 52,181
100,614 46,716 52,181
WATER - MELROSE TERRACE
MFA 103 CDN 1539 Apr 23,2018 4.650 14,349 3,337 4,909
14,349 3,337 4,909
BULK WATER - FRENCH CREEK
MFA 69 CDN 1127  Sep 24,2018 4.650 503,655 75,147 110,059
503,655 75,147 110,059
BULK WATER - NANOOSE
MFA 69 CDN 1128  Sep 24,2018 4.650 864,095 128,926 188,822
MFA 74 CDN 1226  Jun 01,2021 5.900 2,195,223 762,639 894,085
MFA 80 CDN 1239 Oct 03, 2023 4.900 176,295 81,856 91,431
3,235,613 973,421 1,174,338
NANOOSE BAY PENINSULA WATER
MFA 139 CDN 1723 Oct 05, 2036 2.100 350,000 350,000 -
MFA 139 CDN 1750  Oct 05, 2036 2.100 557,200 557,200 -
907,200 907,200 -
TOTAL WATER SUPPLY MANAGEMENT 6,342,981 3,176,528 2,587,690
WASTEWATER SERVICES
SOUTHERN COMMUNITY WASTEWATER
MFA 139 CDN 1742 Oct 05, 2036 2.100 5,000,000 5,000,000 -
TOTAL WASTWATER MANAGEMENT 5,000,000 5,000,000 -
DEBT HELD FOR OTHER JURISDICTIONS
VANCOUVER ISLAND REGIONAL LIBRARY
MFA 117 CDN 1634  Oct 12,2041 3.250 8,000,000 7,227,411 7,394,281
MFA 126 CDN 1674  Sep 26,2038 3.850 8,610,000 7,964,631 8,188,244
TOTAL - VANCOUVER ISLAND REGIONAL LIBRARY $ 16,610,000 $ 15,192,042 $ 15,582,525
TOTAL LONG-TERM DEBT - REGIONAL DISTRICT $ 44295468 $ 34,697,031 $ 30,067,078

See notes to consolidated financial statements



REGIONAL DISTRICT OF NANAIMO
SCHEDULE OF LONG-TERM DEBT
DECEMBER 31, 2016

BYLAW MATURITY  INTEREST ORIGINAL 2016 DEBT 2015 DEBT
FUNCTION ISSUER FUNDS NUMBER DATE RATE VALUE o/s 0/s
CITY OF PARKSVILLE
MFA68 CDN 1109  Mar 24, 2018 4.650 1,200,000 179,045 262,225
MFA69 CDN 1129  Sep 24,2018 4.650 1,970,000 293,932 430,485
MFA74 CDN 1227 Jun 01,2021 5.900 290,000 100,748 118,113
MFA75 CDN 1238 Dec 01,2021 5.690 1,050,000 364,779 427,651
MFA78 CDN 1283  Dec 03,2022 5.250 765,000 311,574 355,200
MFA93 CDN 1420 Apr 06,2025 5.100 800,000 410,013 450,096
TOTAL CITY OF PARKSVILLE 6,075,000 1,660,091 2,043,770
TOWN OF QUALICUM BEACH
MFA136 CDN 1729 Nov 30, 2025 2.750 4,629,364 4,166,428 4,629,364
TOTAL TOWN OF QUALICUM BEACH 4,629,364 4,166,428 4,629,364
CITY OF NANAIMO
MFA72 CDN 1197  Jun 01, 2020 6.450 4,500,000 1,261,630 1,543,830
MFA73 CDN 1219 Dec 01,2020 6.360 4,100,000 1,149,486 1,406,600
MFA99 CDN 1489  Oct 19,2026 4.430 15,000,000 8,952,209 9,669,168
MFA101 CDN 1489  Apr 11,2027 4.520 15,000,000 9,669,168 10,358,552
MFA102  CDN 1530  Dec01, 2027 4.820 3,750,000 2,417,292 2,589,638
MFA126  CDN 1688  Sep26, 2033 3.850 13,300,000 11,905,777 12,388,860
MFA127  CDN 1694  Apr07, 2034 3.300 9,200,000 8,569,738 8,891,048
TOTAL CITY OF NANAIMO 64,850,000 43,925,300 46,847,696
TOTAL LONG-TERM DEBT - MEMBER MUNICIPALITIES $ 75554364 $ 49,751,819 $ 53,520,830
TOTAL LONG-TERM DEBT $ 119,849,832 $ 84,448,850 $ 83,587,908

See notes to consolidated financial statements
-31-
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REGIONAL DISTRICT OF NANAIMO
SCHEDULE OF RECEIPTS AND DISBURSEMENTS
GAS TAX REVENUE TRANSFER PROGRAMS

DECEMBER 31, 2016
(UNAUDITED)
COMMUNITY OTHER
WORKS GAS TAX TOTAL TOTAL
PROGRAM? PROGRAMS® 2016 2015

Opening balance of unspent (spent) funds S 7,331,503 $§ (603,977) S 6,727,526 S 3,758,865
Add:

Amount received during the year 1,676,566 7,226,940 8,903,506 3,897,080

Interest earned 95,925 - 95,925 96,993
Less:

Amount spent on projects (Notes 2 & 3) (1,006,670) (8,589,857) (9,596,527) (1,025,412)
Closing balance of unspent (spent) funds S 8,097,324 S (1,966,894) S 6,130,430 S 6,727,526

(see note 10) (see note 3)
Notes to Schedule:

1. Gas Tax Revenue Transfer Programs

The Government of Canada, through the Union of BC Municipalities (UBCM), transfers Gas Tax Revenue funds to local
governments in British Columbia. The use of funding is established by agreements between the local government and the UBCM.
Funding may be used towards public transit, disaster mitigation, recreational, water, wastewater and solid waste infrastructure
and asset management or capacity building projects, as specified in the agreements.

2. Community Works Program 2016 Activity

The Regional District applied $402,300 towards capital upgrades at the following Community Halls: Cedar; Lighthouse; Cranberry;
Nanoose Place; Rollo Centre; Gabriola Museum and the Bowser Legion. $376,000 was expended on trail projects at Claudet
Community Park, Blueback Community Park, Oakleaf Community Park, E&N Regional Trail, Cranswick Trail and the Gabriola
Village Trail. In addition, $55,000 was spent on community plan projects in Electoral Area H and $128,600 was applied towards
engineering and capital upgrades for the Nanoose Bay Water Quality/Quantity Monitoring Program, Nanoose Bay Interceptor,
Westurne Heights Water System and Whiskey Creek Water System.

3. Other Gas Tax Programs 2016 Activity

Under this portion of the program, expenditures are reimbursed on a claims made basis. In 2016, the following projects were
either under construction, in progress or completed during the year:

Project Year Total Approved Grant Amount Amount
Approved Project value Grant Expended Received
to date to date

Strategic Priorities Fund
a. Southern Community Wastewater
Marine Outfall - Marine Section 2016 14,196,070 6,000,000 6,000,000 6,000,000

Regionally Significant Priorities Fund
a. Regional Trail System - RDN E&N

Rail Trail Project 2014 3,873,206 2,676,489 2,676,489 770,419
b. Rural Village Centre Sewer

Servicing Projects 2014 350,000 350,000 317,344 256,520
c. Northern Community Wastewater

Treatment Plant - Roof Replacement 2014 587,250 200,000 200,000 200,000
Total Other Gas Tax Program Activity S 19,006,526 S 9,226,489 S 9,193,833 S 7,226,939

See notes to consolidated financial statements
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REVENUES
Tax requisition
Grants
Grants in Lieu
Interest
Permit fees & other
Operating revenues
Disposal fees
Other

EXPENDITURES
General administration
Professional fees
Community grants
Legislative
Program costs
Vehicle and Equip operating
Building operating
Other operating
Wages & benefits
Capital expenditures

OPERATING SURPLUS

Debt retirement

- interest

- principal
Contingency
Reserve contributions
Transfers to other govts

CURRENT YEAR
SURPLUS (DEFICIT)

Prior year's surplus applied

NET OPERATING SURPLUS

REGIONAL DISTRICT OF NANAIMO

GENERAL REVENUE FUND

SCHEDULE OF REVENUE AND EXPENDITURES

as at December 31, 2016

(UNAUDITED)
Strategic & Regional & Recreation Transportation
Corporate Community Community & Parks & Emergency Actual Budget Actual
Services Development Utilities Services Services 2016 2016 2015
(Schedule A) (Schedule B) (Schedule C) (Schedule D) (Schedule E )

$ 3,781,836 $ 2,386,528 $ 16,375,461 $ 10,701,750 $ 14,243554 $ 47,489,129 S 47,489,131 $ 45,032,665
536,459 191,645 6,555,989 2,832,379 5,618,645 15,735,117 13,055,788 6,740,947
69,394 8,411 95,424 22,239 123,945 319,413 241,210 309,109
194,279 - - - - 194,279 150,000 283,255
- 344,849 3,448,927 385,869 1,613,912 5,793,557 9,090,931 2,791,041
- 1,428,663 6,777,360 1,693,324 4,519,347 14,418,694 13,705,863 13,859,037
- - 8,554,506 - - 8,554,506 7,741,024 7,494,219
11,315,020 - 9,462,711 - 667,646 21,445,377 40,597,840 17,773,362
15,896,988 4,360,096 51,270,378 15,635,561 26,787,049 113,950,072 132,071,787 94,283,635
158,548 370,020 1,796,688 581,697 1,321,041 4,227,994 4,411,984 4,036,011
279,014 240,505 1,054,629 104,701 43,798 1,722,647 2,522,668 1,435,932
65,022 - - - - 65,022 56,528 46,012
456,127 - - - - 456,127 498,394 474,474
- 141,537 157,924 585,300 - 884,761 925,870 839,844
161,517 77,715 1,894,259 181,055 4,624,522 6,939,068 7,878,995 6,984,636
325,443 37,313 1,439,338 743,700 426,141 2,971,935 3,232,607 2,801,921
644,693 675,662 9,699,892 810,154 3,319,171 15,149,572 16,861,605 14,921,193
4,059,482 2,195,643 7,177,232 4,395,837 11,183,922 29,012,116 30,665,186 28,219,289
256,349 65,765 21,396,782 3,375,043 1,055,415 26,149,354 44,816,373 9,270,481
6,406,195 3,804,160 44,616,744 10,777,487 21,974,010 87,578,596 111,870,210 69,029,793
9,490,793 555,936 6,653,634 4,858,074 4,813,039 26,371,476 20,201,577 25,253,842
3,436,929 - 392,239 458,237 167,777 4,455,182 4,664,168 4,548,388
3,185,990 - 440,772 1,004,376 153,944 4,785,082 4,787,627 4,431,322
- - - - - - - 25
184,140 171,054 6,142,851 1,484,940 1,658,806 9,641,791 8,456,997 9,303,636
2,559,623 277,350 - 1,707,332 2,608,827 7,153,132 7,244,413 6,424,623
9,366,682 448,404 6,975,862 4,654,885 4,589,354 26,035,187 25,153,205 24,707,994
124,111 107,532 (322,228) 203,189 223,685 336,289 (4,951,628) 545,848
1,244,851 1,206,105 4,832,295 1,522,595 3,020,933 11,826,779 11,826,779 11,280,931
$ 1,368,962 $ 1,313,637 S 4,510,067 $ 1,725,784 S 3,244,618 $ 12,163,068 S 6,875,151 $ 11,826,779

See notes to consolidated financial statements
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PN REGIONAL

‘ DISTRICT STAFF REPORT
OF NANAIMO

TO: Committee of the Whole MEETING: May9, 2017
FROM: Wendy Idema, Director of Finance FILE: 1855-04
Randy Alexander, General Manager,

Regional & Community Utilities

SUBJECT: 2017 Gas Tax — Strategic Priorities Fund Grant Applications

RECOMMENDATION

That the Board support the following projects for application by the RDN to the Gas Tax — Strategic
Priorities Fund for the 2017 application intake:

1. Capital Stream:

Nanoose Bay Water Service Pump Station - $2 million
2. Capacity Building Stream:

Asset Management Replacement Cost Study - $150,000

SUMMARY

The 2017 intake for grant applications under the Gas Tax — Strategic Priorities fund is open until June 1,
2017.

The RDN may submit 3 applications, 2 for capital projects and 1 for a capacity building project.
Applications must be accompanied by a Board motion of endorsement. On April 11 the Board endorsed
the GNPCC Secondary Treatment project for submission as one of the 2 capital projects. The program
guide for the 2017 intake indicates the maximum capital project grant amount in 2017 is up to $6 million
per project.

Staff have identified two RDN projects as best aligned with the timing, objectives and evaluation criteria
for this SPF intake:
1. Capital Project: Nanoose Bay Water Service Pump Station Replacement ($2 million)

Replace pump-station and install new transmission main to supply the Nanoose Bay Peninsula
Water Service Area from the new ERWS Water Treatment Plant. This project is included in the
Financial Plan for 2018/19 and grant approval would move the construction timing up and reduce
borrowing requirements in this service.

2. Capacity Building: Asset Management - Current Replacement Cost Study ($150,000)

Establish current replacement costs for all Regional District of Nanaimo assets based on current-year
industry pricing for the purpose of long term financial planning, and develop a framework and
procedures for maintaining up-to-date current replacement costs for RDN assets.
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Report to Committee of the Whole — May 9, 2017
2017 Gas Tax — Strategic Priorities Fund Grant Applications
Page 2

The recommended projects meet the criteria for eligible projects and align with the SPF objectives of
projects that are larger in scale and regional in nature. These projects are ready for implementation, and
are considered high priority for the organization.

BACKGROUND

In May 2014, Canada, BC, and UBCM signed the renewed Gas Tax Agreement (GTA) which provides a 10
year commitment of federal funding for investments in local government infrastructure and capacity
building.

One of the key funding programs established through the GTA, is the Strategic Priorities fund (SPF),
which provides grants for strategic investments that are considered larger in scale, regional in impact, or
innovative. Details of the program are available on the UBCM webpage for the Strategic Priorities Fund:

http://www.ubcm.ca/EN/main/funding/renewed-gas-tax-agreement/strategic-priorities-fund.html

The first intake for the SPF fund was completed in 2015 under which the RDN received $6 million for the
Greater Nanaimo Wastewater Outfall Replacement. The 2017 intake for grant applications is now open,
and closes on June 1.

Each eligible local/regional government may submit two (2) applications under the SPF-Capital
Infrastructure Projects Stream, and one (1) application under the Capacity Building Stream. Applications
must be accompanied by a Board motion of endorsement. On April 11 the Board endorsed the GNPCC
Secondary Treatment project for submission as one of the 2 capital projects because of its size and
related population impact. The program guide for the 2017 intake suggests that the maximum capital
project grant amount in 2017 is $6 million per project.

Eligible costs for the Capital Project stream are expenditures associated with acquiring, planning,
designing, constructing or renovating a tangible capital asset. Eligible Capital Project categories include:
Transit; Local Roads, Bridges, & Active Transportation.; Regional Airports; Solid Waste; Community
Energy Infrastructure; Short Sea Shipping; Short Line Rail; Drinking Water; Wastewater; Brownfield
Redevelopment; Broadband Connectivity; Disaster Mitigation; Cultural Infrastructure; Sport
Infrastructure; Tourism Infrastructure.

Eligible Costs for the Capacity Building Stream include expenditures related to strengthening the ability
of Local Governments to improve local and regional planning including capital investment plans,
integrated community sustainability plans, life cycle costs assessments, and Asset Management Plans.

Ineligible costs include operating or administrative, costs related to tasks normally carried out by staff,
purchase of land, legal, and routine repair and maintenance.

Projects will be evaluated according to how well they support the following priorities:

e Environmental Benefits
e Strong Communities
e Economic Benefits

Staff have identified two RDN projects as best aligned with the timing, objectives and evaluation criteria
for this SPF intake:

66


http://www.ubcm.ca/EN/main/funding/renewed-gas-tax-agreement/strategic-priorities-fund.html

Report to Committee of the Whole — May 9, 2017
2017 Gas Tax — Strategic Priorities Fund Grant Applications
Page 3

1. Capital Project: Nanoose Bay Water Service Pump Station Replacement - $2 million

Replace pump station and install new transmission main to supply the Nanoose Bay Peninsula Water
Service Area with treated surface water once the new ERWS Water Treatment Plant is online. This
project is included in the Financial Plan for 2018/19 and grant approval would move the
construction timing up and reduce borrowing requirements in this service.

2. Capacity Building: Asset Management - Replacement Cost Study ($150,000)

Establishing current replacement costs for all RDN assets, as well as a procedure for maintaining that
data over time will provide essential information to enable long term financial planning for current
services. This project will rely on expert guidance and advice, as well as current-year industry pricing
in order to establish a baseline understanding of actual costs to replace RDN assets, and provide a
consistent method, based on best practices, to maintain and update current replacement costs year
over year.

The recommended projects meet the criteria for eligible projects and align with the SPF objectives of
projects that are larger in scale and regional in nature. These projects are ready for implementation, and
are considered high priority for the organization.

ALTERNATIVES

1. The Board support application under the NBCF-SCF for the identified projects.

2. Provide alternate direction to staff.

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

Funding of infrastructure projects under the SPF has the potential to significantly reduce the tax burden
associated with those projects. Funding under the SPF is limited, and is expected to primarily benefit
local government projects that are larger in scale, regional in Impact, or Innovative.

The recommended projects meet the criteria for eligible projects and align with the SPF objectives of
projects that are larger in scale and regional in nature. These projects are ready for implementation, and
are regional priorities for implementation.

STRATEGIC PLAN IMPLICATIONS

The RON's 2016-2020 Strategic Plan includes “We will fund infrastructure in support of our core services
employing an asset management focus” as one of its key priorities. As well it clearly identifies balancing
the RON's vision for the region and pursuit of innovation with fiscal responsibility including support to
seek out provincial and federal grant funding for infrastructure projects.

- A
( 3\3\9\\ SENN ! W

Wendy ldema (widema@rdn.bc.ca) Randy Alexander (ralexander@rdn.bc.ca)
May 1, 2017

Reviewed by:
P. Carlyle, Chief Administrative Officer
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PN REGIONAL

‘ DISTRICT STAFF REPORT
OF NANAIMO

TO: Committee of the Whole MEETING: May9, 2017

FROM: Hannah King
Superintendent, Recreation Program Services

SUBJECT: Tribal Journeys 2017

RECOMMENDATION

That the Tribal Journeys 2017 report be received for information and RDN Board of Directors and staff
be informed of any volunteer opportunities that may arise from the event.

SUMMARY

In August 2017 the We Wai Kai Nation and We Wai Kum Nation will welcome canoe families from
around the Pacific Northwest to their territories (Quadra Island and Campbell River). Leading up to their
arrival, paddlers will travel from points all around the Pacific Northwest and will follow established
paddling routes stopping along the way at numerous Vancouver Island First Nation communities
(Attachment 1). Potential landing sites within the RDN that have been identified to date include:
Nanaimo - Newcastle Island, Nanoose Bay, and Qualicum Bay.

BACKGROUND

In August 2017, the We Wai Kai Nation and We Wai Kum Nation will welcome canoe families from
around the Pacific Northwest to their territories (Quadra Island and Campbell River). The purpose of the
journey is to help foster cultural revitalization and experience (www.tribaljourneys2017.com ). The
event is open to all ages but often within the journey there are opportunities to focus on supporting
participating youth. Tribal Journeys is an annual event that has been taking place for more than twenty
five years.

Paddlers will travel from points all around the Pacific Northwest and will follow establish paddling routes
stopping along the way at numerous Vancouver Island First Nation communities (Attachment 1).
Potential landing sites within the RDN that have been identified to date include: Nanaimo - Newcastle
Island, Nanoose Bay, and Qualicum Bay.

The culmination of the Journey will be the arrival of more than one hundred canoes on the shores of
Quadra Island on Saturday, August 5" and onto Campbell River’s shores on Monday, August 7", On
both dates public community feasts will be held. Typically, hundreds of people attend these
celebrations.

Through Chair Veenhof’s efforts, an offer of assistance by CFB Esquimalt to provide resources and
equipment has been presented and considered by the three local First Nation communities.
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At the time of writing no specific information regarding landing events has been confirmed regarding
the Nanoose Bay or Nanaimo-Newcastle events.

Chief Michael Recalma of the Qualicum First Nation has invited both RDN Directors and staff to attend
or volunteer in the Qualicum Bay landing event (at the mouth of the Big Qualicum River) on August 1*.

The Qualicum landing will involve the arrival of the paddlers who will request permission to land at the
mouth of the river. It is expected that Chief Recalma will welcome them ashore and invite them to a
meal hosted by the Qualicum First Nation. The paddlers and their support crews traveling by land would
join in the hosted meal.

Chief Recalma conveyed to staff that individuals can attend or volunteer at the landing in Qualicum Bay.
Those attending would be welcome to be witness to the landing or to volunteer more actively in tasks
assigned on the day of the landing. Tasks may include serving food to elders, directing traffic and
equipment set up/take down. This offer is a wonderful opportunity for staff and Directors to participate
in this culturally significant event.

Specific details such as canoe arrival times and volunteer opportunities have yet to be determined and
will be communicated when available.

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS
There are no financial implications.
STRATEGIC PLAN IMPLICATIONS

A key focus of the Regional District is to continue to develop and encourage meaningful relationships.
An invitation such as the one being extended by Qualicum First Nation and the offer of assistance from
the Regional District of Nanaimo, are examples of growing relationships. RDN Board members and staff
attending any of the Tribal Journeys 2017 events would further strengthen cultural awareness and
understanding of the First Nations Communities.

/%}7"/@(

Hannah King =
Hking@rdn.bc.ca
April 26, 2017

Reviewed by:
e D. Banman, Manager, Recreation Services
e G. Garbutt, General Manager, Strategic and Community Development
e T.Osborne, General Manager, Recreation and Parks
e P. Carlyle, Chief Administrative Officer

Attachment
1. Tribal Journeys Route Map 2017 as of April 2017
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*Drew Harbour, Quadra Island: Saturday, August 5t", 2017
Campbell River Spit, Campbell River : Monday, August 7", 2017
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PN REGIONAL

‘ DISTRICT STAFF REPORT
OF NANAIMO

TO: Regional District of Nanaimo Committee MEETING: May9, 2017
of the Whole
FROM: Adrian Limpus FILE: 2240-20-SHAW

Engineering Technologist

SUBJECT: Renewal of Agreement for On-Call Electrical Maintenance and Repair for Wastewater
Services

RECOMMENDATION(S)

That the Board renew an agreement for on-call electrical maintenance and repair to Shaw Electrical
Services from June 1, 2017 to May 31, 2018, to a maximum expenditure of $250,000.00. Electrical
maintenance services are provided to the Southern Community, Northern Community, Nanoose and
Duke Point Wastewater Service Areas.

SUMMARY

The Board is requested to approve renewal of an agreement with Shaw Electrical Services for on-call
electrical maintenance and repair services to support operation of the Regional District of Nanaimo's
four wastewater treatment facilities, 23 pump stations, and two septage receiving sites. The proposed
renewal is for a one year term, from June 1, 2017 to May 31, 2018, to a maximum expenditure of
$250,000.00. The renewal includes an approximate 1.5% increase to labour rates from June 1, 2017. All
other terms and conditions including equipment mark-up, travel costs, and warranty remain the same.

BACKGROUND

The Regional District of Nanaimo (RDN) has a regular need for on-call electrical maintenance and repair
services to support the operation of its wastewater facilities.

To meet Purchasing Policy requirements, in April 2015, the RDN Wastewater Services department issued
a Request for Proposals (RFP) on BC Bid to select a qualified electrical firm. The contract was awarded
to Shaw Electrical Services. Shaw Electrical Services have experience with the electrical systems at our
wastewater facilities, and have worked with operational staff in the past.

The initial agreement term was from June 1, 2015 to May 31, 2016 with the possibility of extension for
an additional 2 one year terms. In April 12, 2016, the Board approved extension of the agreement for
one year.
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Shaw Electrical Services has provided a high level of service to the RDN over the last two years. Staff are
interested in extending the agreement for the last one year term as per the conditions of the RFP.

ALTERNATIVES

1. Authorize staff to renew an agreement with Shaw Electrical Services for on-call electrical
maintenance and repair for wastewater facilities from June 1, 2017 to May 31, 2018. The total
financial authorization requested is $250,000.

On call electrical services are required to maintain operation of the facility and protection of the
environment.

2. Do not authorize renewal of the agreement and provide alternative direction for staff.

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

Shaw Electrical Services has agreed to the proposed extension. There would be an approximate 1.5%
increase to their labour rates from June 1, 2017. The contract includes a clause permitting renewal on
satisfactory performance review and mutual agreement on rates.

All other terms and conditions including equipment mark-up, travel costs, and warranty will remain the
same. The total financial authorization requested to renew this agreement from June 1, 2017 to May 31,
2018 is $250,000.

STRATEGIC PLAN IMPLICATIONS

Electrical maintenance and repair services are important for the efficient, safe and reliable operation of
the RDN’s wastewater facilities, advancing the Board’s strategic focus on Service and Organizational
Excellence.

Original Signed By

Adrian Limpus
alimpus@rdn.bc.ca
April 19, 2017

Reviewed by:
e S.De Pol, Manager, Wastewater Services
e R. Alexander, General Manager, Regional & Community Utilities
e P. Carlyle, Chief Administrative Officer.
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‘ DISTRICT STAFF REPORT
OF NANAIMO

TO: Committee of the Whole MEETING: May9, 2017

FROM: Shelley Norum FILE: 5340-05
Wastewater Program Coordinator

SUBJECT:  Biosolids Management Program Agreements

RECOMMENDATIONS

1. That the Regional District of Nanaimo (RDN) enter into a four-year agreement with TimberWest
Forest Company (TimberWest) to enable biosolids forest fertilization activities.

2. That the RDN enter into a four-year agreement with the Nanaimo Mountain Bike Club to coordinate
shared land use.

3. That the RDN award SYLVIS Environmental Services (SYLVIS) a four month contract extension from
June 1, 2017 to September 30, 2017 for $162,000 to continue biosolids forest fertilization activities.

SUMMARY

Biosolids are nutrient-rich solid residuals of wastewater treatment and widely used in North America as
a plant fertilizer and soil conditioner. RDN biosolids are managed by forest fertilization, at a TimberWest
woodlot leased by Vancouver Island University (VIU), through an agreement between the RDN, VIU, and
SYLVIS. Both the biosolids management agreement and VIU’s woodlot lease expire on May 31, 2017. VIU
elected not to renew its woodlot lease.

Forest fertilization at the woodlot remains the RDN’s most economical option to manage biosolids. To
continue using the woodlot after May 31, 2017, the RDN must enter into a license agreement with
TimberWest (Attachment 1). TimberWest also requests the RDN enter into an agreement with the
Nanaimo Mountain Bike Club (Attachment 2). The Nanaimo Mountain Bike Club also intends to enter
into a separate license agreement with TimberWest. Awarding SYLVIS a four-month contract extension
will allow RDN biosolids to continue to be managed at the woodlot while a competitive procurement
process is undertaken to establish a long term contract.

BACKGROUND

Biosolids are nutrient-rich solid residuals of wastewater treatment and widely used in North America as
a plant fertilizer and soil conditioner. VIU began beneficially reusing RDN biosolids for forest fertilization
25 years ago, with the first application in 1992 at a woodlot they lease from TimberWest. RDN biosolids
are still applied to this woodlot and, in 2013, the RDN received the Excellence in Biosolids Management
Award from the Northwest Biosolids Management Association.

RDN biosolids are currently managed through an agreement between the RDN, VIU, and SYLVIS. Both
the biosolids management agreement and VIU’s woodlot lease expire on May 31, 2017. VIU elected not
to renew its lease of the TimberWest woodlot. Due to woodlot management policy changes, VIU no
longer requires a private-land component to operate an adjacent crown-land woodlot.
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To continue using the woodlot after May 31, 2017, the RDN must enter into a license agreement with

TimberWest (Attachment 1) to grant land use permissions and identify responsibilities. TimberWest also

requests the RDN enter into an agreement with the Nanaimo Mountain Bike Club (Attachment 2) to

recognize and support the long history of recreational mountain biking also existing on this woodlot and

to determine how the licenced area will be coordinated for the two land uses. The Nanaimo Mountain

Bike Club also intends to enter into a separate license agreement with TimberWest to gain land use

permissions, identify its responsibilities for trail maintenance, and establish liability insurance

requirements related to its recreational use of the land. The term of the agreements will be for four
years; from June 1, 2017 to May 31, 2021.

These agreements formalize the shared land uses of TimberWest’s forestry operations, the RDN’s
biosolids fertilization program and the Nanaimo Mountain Bike Club’s recreational activities, thereby
improving communication and safety and maximizing the benefits for all three parties. Furthermore, the
agreements legitimize mountain biking as a permitted use of the privately-owned land and have the
potential to transform the area into a key mountain biking destination on Vancouver Island.

SYLVIS, also a key component of the RDN’s biosolids program, has been involved since the origin of the
forest fertilization program. A four-month contract extension, from June 1, 2017 to September 30, 2017,
will enable SYLVIS to continue managing RDN biosolids while a competitive procurement process is
undertaken to establish a long term contract.

Currently, biosolids are sent to the RDN Regional Landfill when weather conditions make the woodlot
inaccessible. At the March 17, 2017 meeting, the Liquid Waste Management Plan Monitoring
Committee carried the motion “that the Liquid Waste Management Plan Monitoring Committee
supports the continued beneficial reuse of biosolids over long term disposal at the Regional Landfill.”
Minutes of this meeting were received for information at the April 11, 2017 Committee of the Whole.
Based on this motion, the RDN is also seeking a contingency site to beneficially use biosolids when the
woodlot is inaccessible.

ALTERNATIVES

1. Continue the biosolids forest fertilization program by entering separate concurrent four-year
agreements with TimberWest and the Nanaimo Mountain Bike Club, and awarding a four-month
biosolids management contract to SYLVIS.

Realizing the value in biosolids through this successful forest fertilization program and diverting
the biosolids from landfill is consistent with the RDN's Zero Waste policy, provides beneficial
reuse of a resource, reduces cost, and conserves limited landfill capacity. Furthermore, by
entering into the two agreements, the RDN supports the potential to transform the area into a
key mountain biking destination on Vancouver Island.

2. Do not enter into agreements with TimberWest and the Nanaimo Mountain Bike Club and do
not award the biosolids management contract to SYLVIS.

This will end the current forest fertilization program. Biosolids may be sent to the RDN Regional
Landfill until a suitable alternative is secured. Disposal of biosolids at the landfill is inconsistent
with the RDN's Zero Waste policy, increases RDN costs, and is not recommended.
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FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

Alternative 1

Managing the Biosolids program and the requirements of the agreements are part of the current budget
and services delivered by Wastewater Services staff. Under the Nanaimo Mountain Bike Club
Agreement, the RDN and the Club agree to coordinate activities and collaborate on developing an
inventory of bike trails and application locations. Wastewater Services has budgeted $20,000 for this
work. Wastewater Services staff will work in consultation with Parks staff to maximize the benefits and
efficiency of services delivered to the community under these agreements. Additional costs to the RDN
Parks Service related to the biosolids agreements will be included in the Wastewater Services budget.

The current fee to SYLVIS to manage biosolids at the woodlot is $107.53/tonne (excluding trucking to
the woodlot). The fees are estimated at $162,000 over the four month term based on the annual
production of 4,500 tonnes of biosolids.

At this time, alternative 1 represents the most economical option to manage RDN biosolids in the short
term, and it is expected the program will continue to be the most financially and environmentally
effective long term solution when compared to Alternative 2.

Alternative 2

The current rate for biosolids disposal at the Regional Landfill is $125/tonne (excluding trucking to the
landfill). This represents an incremental cost of $17.47/tonne, for landfill disposal as compared to
woodlot application (trucking costs are comparable and not included in the cost comparison). This
alternative will have a negative impact on the landfill’'s estimated life, and requires additional staff time
and potential costs to develop new management options.

STRATEGIC PLAN IMPLICATIONS

Beneficially using RDN biosolids in a forest fertilization program aligns with the 2016-2020 Board
Strategic Plan vision for the environment. Biosolids fertilization provides nutrients and organic matter to
plants and soils, enabling increased plant growth and improved soil quality. Increased vegetation growth
reduces the risk of erosion and thereby enhances surface water quality. In addition, the use of private
forest lands for public trail reaffirms the value placed by the Regional Board on the provision of
recreational amenities for residents and the development of tourism opportunities for visitors.

N

Shelley Norum
snorum@rdn.bc.ca
May 1, 2017

Reviewed by:
e S. De Pol, Manager, Wastewater Services
e R. Alexander, General Manager, Regional and Community Utilities
e T.Osborne, General Manager, Recreation and Parks
e P. Carlyle, Chief Administrative Officer

Attachments
1. License Agreement between TimberWest and the RDN
2. Agreement between the RDN and the Nanaimo Mountain Bike Club
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LICENCE AGREEMENT

THIS AGREEMENT dated for reference the ___ day of , 2017.

BETWEEN:

TIMBERWEST FOREST COMPANY
201 — 648 Terminal Avenue
Nanaimo, British Columbia, VOR 5E2

(“TimberWest”)

AND:
THE REGIONAL DISTRICT OF NANAIMO
6300 Hammond Bay Road
Nanaimo, British Columbia, VOT 6N2
(the “RDN”)
WHEREAS:
A. TimberWest is the beneficial owner in fee simple of lands legally described as:
PID: 009-842-586
Block 355, Dunsmuir District;
PID: 009-842-616
Block 463, Dunsmuir District, Except Part In Plan 27690; and
PID: 009-438-203
Block 505, Nanoose District;
(collectively, the “TimberWest Lands”).
B. The RDN generates municipal Biosolids and wishes to be granted this license to use the
TimberWest Lands (the “Licence Area”); and
C. TimberWest has agreed to grant to the RDN a licence over the Licence Area on the terms

and conditions set out herein.

NOW THEREFORE in consideration of ten ($10.00) dollars paid by the RDN to TimberWest and
the mutual covenants and agreements herein, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby
acknowledged by the parties, the parties agree as follows:

11

ARTICLE 1
INTERPRETATION

Capitalized words and phrases used in this Agreement have the following meanings:

(@) “Applicable Laws” means (i) all statutes, laws, bylaws, common law, rules,
regulations, ordinances, codes, orders, directions or other legal requirements of

1
195 761 / Licence Agreement
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(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

(f)

9

(h)

()

any applicable Governmental Authority (including all Environmental Laws), and
(if) any judgment, injunction, order or other similar requirement of any court or
other adjudicatory authority (including any Order), in effect at the time in question
and in each case to the extent the person or property in question is subject to the
same.

“Biosolids” means Class A biosolids or Class B biosolids as defined by the
Regulation.

“‘Business Day” means a day other than a Saturday, Sunday or statutory holiday
in the Province of British Columbia.

“‘“Common Usage Agreement” means the agreement in respect of the use and
occupation of the TimberWest Lands to be entered into between the RDN and the
Society concurrently with this Agreement.

“Environmental Laws” means all Applicable Laws which impose any obligations
relating to the protection, conservation or restoration of the natural environment or
relating to the storage, use or manufacture of Hazardous Substances or to the
release of Hazardous Substances into the environment including the Fisheries Act
(Canada), the Canadian Environmental Protection Act (Canada), the
Transportation of Dangerous Goods Act (Canada) and the Environmental
Management Act (British Columbia).

“‘Governmental Authority” means any federal, provincial, regional, municipal or
local government or governmental authority, office or official having jurisdiction, or
any political subdivision of any of them, or any entity, authority, agency or court or
person exercising executive, legislative, judicial, regulatory or administrative
functions on behalf of such government, governmental authority, office or official or
other political subdivision thereof.

“‘Hazardous Substance” means any substance, material or thing or combination
of substances, materials or things which could cause an adverse effect on, or
which is dangerous or detrimental or potentially dangerous or detrimental to, any
part of the natural environment, including a substance, material or thing included in
or containing components included in the definition or meaning of “biomedical
waste”, “contaminant”, “dangerous good”, “deleterious substance”, “hazardous
product’, “nutrient”, “pollutant”, “reportable substance”, “special waste”, “waste” or
“toxic substance” or any variation of any such term, in any Environmental Law or
which is prohibited, controlled or regulated under any Environmental Law and, in
respect of the foregoing, is found in a material or relevant concentration for the

purpose of any Environmental Law but does not include Biosolids.

‘Land Application Plan” means a Land Application Plan submitted in respect of
the Licenced Area pursuant to the Regulation.

“Licence Area” has the meaning set out on the first page of this Agreement

‘Losses” has the meaning set out in section 7.2.

195 761 / Licence Agreement
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1.2

1.3
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(k) “Order” means any directive, decision, order, notice including a notice of litigation
or proceeding, letter or other written communication, that is validly issued and
requires the taking of any measures or actions or refraining from taking any
measures or actions, issued or made by any Governmental Authority under any
Environmental Law.

)] “‘RDN” has the meaning set out on the first page of this Agreement.

(m)  “RDN’s Representatives” means the RDN and its directors, officers, employees,
contractors, sub-contractors and agents, as applicable.

(n) “‘Required Insurance” has the meaning set out in section 9.2.

(o) “‘Regulation” means the Organic Matter Recycling Regulation (British Columbia).
(p) “Society” means the Nanaimo Mountain Bike Club.

Q) “Term” has the meaning set out in section 2.1.

(N “TimberWest” has the meaning set out on the first page of this Agreement.

(s) “TimberWest’s Representatives” means TimberWest, its related partners and

companies and its and their respective directors, officers, shareholders,
employees, contractors, sub-contractors, agents and invitees, as applicable.

® “Wood Harvesting and Operation Plans” means TimberWest's plans for road
construction, wood harvesting, silviculture and hazard abatement in respect of the
TimberWest Lands provided to the RDN pursuant to subsection 5.1(a).

(u) “Works” means any improvements constructed on the Licensed Area by the RDN
as permitted by TimberWest, including trails, signs and materials used in the
construction of the works.

In this Agreement, unless the context otherwise requires, the singular includes the plural
and the masculine includes the feminine gender and a corporation, and the word
“‘including”, when following any general statement, will be construed to refer to all other
things that could reasonably fall within the scope of such general statement, whether or
not non-limiting language (such as “without limitation” or “without limiting the generality of
the foregoing”) is used with reference thereto.

The captions and headings contained in this Agreement are for convenience only and are
not to be construed as defining or in any way limiting the scope or intent of the provisions
herein.

If any provision of this Agreement or any part of a provision is found to be illegal or
unenforceable, that part or provision, as the case may be, will be considered separate and
severable and the remaining parts or provisions, as the case may be, will not be affected
thereby and will be enforceable to the fullest extent permitted by law.

195 761 / Licence Agreement
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2.1

3.1

3.2

The following schedules form part of this Agreement:

Schedule A: The Licence Area
Schedule B: Contact Information
Schedule C: Safe Road Use Procedures

ARTICLE 2
TERM

The duration of this Agreement and the rights herein granted will be for a term of four years
commencing on June 1, 2017 and concluding on May 31, 2021 (the “Term”), unless
earlier terminated in accordance with the terms of this Agreement.

ARTICLE 3
GRANT OF LICENCE

Subject to the terms and conditions set out in this Agreement, TimberWest hereby grants
to the RDN the non-exclusive right and licence for RDN and the RDN’s Representatives to
enter onto and use the Licence Area for the purposes of:

@) applying Biosolids to those areas defined in the Licence Area; and

(b) generally doing all acts, things and matters which are reasonably necessary or
incidental to:

0] the exercise of the rights granted to the RDN pursuant to the
subsections 3.1(a); and

(ii) the fulfillment of any of RDN'’s obligations under this Agreement,
and for no other purpose without the prior written approval of TimberWest.
The RDN acknowledges and agrees that:

(a) TimberWest has not made nor will make any representations or warranties as to
the state of the Licence Area, the fitness of such Licence Area for the purposes
contemplated in this Agreement or any other matter in any way related to or
connected with the Licence Area and the intended use thereof by the RDN. The
RDN has satisfied itself with respect to all such matters as it considers necessary
or related to or in connection with the Licence Area and its intended use and the
RDN is accepting the Licence Area for such use strictly on an “as is, where is”
basis;

(b) the rights granted under this Agreement do not constitute any interest in the
Licence Area or entitle the RDN to exclusive possession of the Licence Area or any
portion thereof;

(©) TimberWest may at any time and from time to time prohibit or restrict the exercise
of any of the rights granted to the RDN under this Agreement with respect to the
Licence Area for such period or periods of time as TimberWest may in its absolute
discretion determine should TimberWest consider such prohibition or restriction
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4.1

(d)

(€)

(f)

9

(h)

necessary or advisable on account of hazardous weather conditions or
unreasonable interference with the operations of TimberWest and the RDN will at
all times observe and comply with such prohibitions or restrictions;

TimberWest and TimberWest’'s Representatives may enter upon and use the
Licence Area or any portion thereof at any time for any purpose related to the
conduct of TimberWest’s business or affairs including the conduct of wood
harvesting operations (whether or not such operations have been identified in the
Wood Harvesting Operation Plans), and any such uses of the Licence Area by
TimberWest or TimberWest's Representatives:

0] will not constitute an interference with the rights granted to the RDN
pursuant to section 3.1 or a breach of TimberWest’s obligations under this
Agreement; and

(i) will prevail in the case of any conflict with the use and occupation of the
Licence Area by the RDN or the RDN'’s Representatives;

provided however that where the operations have not been identified in the Wood
Harvesting Operation Plans, TimberWest will give RDN at least twenty Business
Days’ notice of those operations that may conflict with the RDN’s purpose under
3.1(a).

the RDN’s rights under this Agreement are at all times subject to existing
conditions, covenants, restrictions, reservations, easements and rights-of-way
registered against the TimberWest Lands, including subsurface rights, the lawful
exercise of which by the registered holders thereof may interfere with the rights
granted to the RDN under this Agreement;

the RDN’s rights under this Agreement are at all times subject to the compliance of
the RDN and the RDN’s Representatives with the terms and conditions of the
Common Usage Agreement;

TimberWest may grant licences of use and occupation to third parties in respect of
the Licence Area for any purpose in TimberWest’s sole and absolute discretion;
and

if the RDN fails to perform any of its obligations under this Agreement, TimberWest
may after ten days’ prior written notice (except in the case of an emergency, in
which case no notice will be required) perform such obligations on RDN’s behalf
and the cost thereof will be due and payable by the RDN within 30 days after the
RDN’s receipt of an invoice therefor.

ARTICLE 4
COVENANTS OF THE RDN

The RDN covenants:

(@)

Biosolids Land Application. To adhere to all Applicable Laws when storing and
applying Biosolids in the Licence Area.
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(b)

(c)

(d)

(€)

(f)

9

(h)

Road Maintenance. To maintain those portions of road located within the
boundaries of the Licence Area except during periods of forestry activities by
TimberWest. The RDN is only responsible for maintaining the roads in a condition
similar to the conditions existing as of the date of execution of this Agreement. In
no case will the RDN be responsible for maintaining any portion of the roads
outside the boundaries of the Licence Area.

Signhage. To maintain signage in the Licence Area to notify the public of Biosolids
operations as required by Applicable Laws.

Permits. To obtain all permits and approvals from any Governmental Authority as
may be required for the RDN under the Regulation or to lawfully construct any of
the Works and to provide TimberWest with copies of same forthwith upon receipt.

Rules. To observe, abide by and comply with, and cause the RDN’s
Representatives to observe, abide by and comply with:

0] any rules and regulations provided to the RDN by TimberWest in respect of
the use and occupation of the Licensed Area, including rules related to fire
hazards and public safety;

(i) the Safe Road Use Procedures set out in Schedule C, which TimberWest
reserves the right to change, from time to time, in its sole discretion and as
such rules apply generally or to the RDN specifically;

(iii) any condition imposed by TimberWest in connection with any approval
granted by TimberWest to the RDN pursuant to this Agreement in respect
of the Licensed Area; and

(iv) all Applicable Laws of any Governmental Authority with respect to the
RDN'’s use and occupation of the Licensed Area and construction of the
Works.

Construction. Not to Construct any Works on the Licensed Area without the prior
written approval of TimberWest, provided that the RDN may construct any Works
on the Licensed Area that are described on the Land Application Plan approved by
TimberWest in writing.

Removal of Works. To remove at its cost any Works forthwith upon the written
direction of TimberWest if such Work has been constructed without the prior
written approval of TimberWest or was not described the Land Application Plan
approved by TimberWest in writing, or if such removal is required by TimberWest
in connection with the conduct of its business activities, including its wood
harvesting operations, on the TimberWest Lands.

Liens. To pay when due all claims for labour and materials furnished or alleged to
have been furnished to or for the RDN on or for use on the Licensed Area, which
claims are or may be secured by any liens against the TimberWest Lands or any
interest therein, to take all necessary steps to have any such claim of lien removed
or withdrawn not later than ten days after becoming aware of same, and if such
claim of lien has not been removed or withdrawn within such period, to forthwith
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(i)

()
(k)

()
(m)

(n)

furnish TimberWest with a letter of credit or other security in form and substance
acceptable to TimberWest, in an amount equal to the amount of any such claim,
and to reimburse TimberWest for all costs and expenses incurred by TimberWest
in taking all steps necessary to have such claim of lien removed or withdrawn,
including actual legal fees.

Trees. Not to trim, cut or destroy any trees, whether downed or standing, on the
TimberWest Lands without the prior written approval of TimberWest, unless such
trimming or cutting is included in the then current Land Application Plan.

Workmanship. To construct the Works in a good and workmanlike manner.

Storage. Not to store any tools, apparatus, equipment, supplies or materials on
the TimberWest Lands without the prior written consent of TimberWest, in its sole
discretion.

Access. To manage vehicle access and gate keys to the Licenced Area.

Harmful Activity. Not to commit or permit any wilful or voluntary waste, spoil or
destruction on the TimberWest Lands or do or permit to be done thereon anything
that is a nuisance or annoyance or is otherwise harmful or potentially harmful to the
TimberWest Representatives, occupiers of adjoining lands or third parties, or
would render any insurance carried by TimberWest void or increase the premiums
of such insurance.

Fires.

0] Not to start or permit any open fires or any fire menace on the TimberWest
Lands except with the prior written approval of TimberWest and then only in
strict compliance with all the requirements of the Wildfire Management
Branch of the Ministry of Forests, Lands and Natural Resource Operations,
TimberWest Lands and Natural Resource Operations and any conditions
that may be imposed by TimberWest;

(ii) To take every reasonable precaution to prevent the escape of fire on or to
any of the TimberWest Lands or timber located on the TimberWest Lands;

(iii) To develop and implement fire prevention and suppression measures that
comply with the Wildfire Act (British Columbia) standards; and to submit a
record of those measures to TimberWest for approval; and

(iv) To observe, abide by and comply with, and cause the RDN’s
Representatives to observe, abide by and comply with, all applicable
provisions of and regulations under the Wildfire Act (British Columbia) and
any other statute that has been or may hereafter be made in respect of the
prevention and suppression of fires, including the duty to immediately
report any wildfire to the Wildfire Management Branch of the Ministry of
Forests, Lands and Natural Resource Operations, TimberWest Lands and
Natural Resource Operations, a peace officer or a fire emergency
response telephone number, and to immediately take action to contain,
extinguish or limit the spread of wildfire, if practicable.
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5.1

6.1

(0)

(P)

(@)

(s)

(t)

Condition of TimberWest Lands. To keep those portions of the Licensed Area
used by the RDN or the RDN’s Representatives in a safe, clean and sanitary
condition satisfactory to TimberWest, acting reasonably.

Inspection. To permit TimberWest Representatives to inspect the Licenced Area
and to make clean and sanitary any portion of the Licenced Area that TimberWest
may direct by notice in writing to the RDN.

Public Lands. Not to take any action, or cause any person to take any action, to
have the TimberWest Lands deemed public lands.

Public Communications. To obtain TimberWest’s prior written consent before
making public any new communications or materials of any kind that reference the
Licensed Area, or the existence or contents of this Agreement, and to publish
communications concerning use of the Licensed Area (“Public Notifications”) as
directed by TimberWest. Where information regarding safety arises, the RDN may
make such information available to the public in a timely manner and will
immediately advise TimberWest via an email that attaches a copy of all information
communicated to the public.

License Area. To observe and perform all of the RDN'’s covenants and obligations
under the Common Usage Agreement and to strictly use and occupy, and cause
the RDN’s Representatives to strictly use and occupy, the License Area in strict
accordance with the Common Usage Agreement.

Common Usage Agreement. Not to amend or terminate the Common Usage
Agreement without TimberWest’s prior written consent.

ARTICLE 5
COVENANTS OF TIMBERWEST

TimberWest covenants:

(@)

(b)

(c)

Wood Harvesting Operation Plans. To provide the RDN with the Wood Harvesting
Operation Plans for the TimberWest Lands as available from time to time and at
least seven days prior to commencement of any planned activity on the
TimberWest Lands.

Road Maintenance. To maintain all roads outside the Licence Area at all times,
and maintain all roads within the Licence Area during periods of forestry activities
by TimberWest, in each case to a reasonable standard as determined by
TimberWest.

Rules. From time to time, to provide the RDN with any rules and regulations
applicable to the use and occupation of the Licence Area by the RDN, including
rules related to fire hazards, public safety, and road use.

ARTICLE 6
HAZARDOUS SUBSTANCES

The RDN will not bring or permit to be brought onto the Licence Area, and will not use or
permit the use of the Licence Area, or any part thereof, directly or indirectly, for the

8
195 761 / Licence Agreement
83



6.2

6.3

6.4

6.5

7.1

7.2

handling of, any Hazardous Substance, except in strict compliance with all Applicable
Laws and with the prior written approval of TimberWest.

The RDN will not release nor permit the release of any Hazardous Substance into the
environment or into culverts or drains on the Licence Area.

If any Hazardous Substance is brought onto the Licence Area or created upon the Licence
Area by the RDN or the RDN'’s Representatives:

(@) the RDN will immediately notify TimberWest in writing of the presence of such
Hazardous Substance and will take any action in respect of such Hazardous
Substance that may be reasonably required by TimberWest forthwith upon receipt
of same; and

(b) such Hazardous Substance will be the sole and exclusive property of the RDN and
not of TimberWest, notwithstanding the expiration or earlier termination of this
Agreement.

On or before the expiration or earlier termination of this Agreement, the RDN will remove
all Hazardous Substances which have been brought onto or created on or about the
Licence Area by the RDN or the RDN’s Representatives, including any Hazardous
Substances which may have been released into the environment.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, upon written notice to the RDN, TimberWest may
undertake remediation of any contamination of the Licence Area at the cost and expense
of the RDN, which cost will be paid by the RDN within 30 days after receipt of an invoice
therefor.

ARTICLE 7
RISK AND LIMITATION OF LIABILITY

The RDN hereby accepts all risks associated with the use and occupancy of the Licence
Area by the RDN as its own risk.

TimberWest will not be liable for, and the RDN hereby releases and discharges
TimberWest and TimberWest’'s Representatives from, all loss, expense (including
environmental investigation and remediation expenses), claims, demands, actions, suits,
proceedings, judgments, damages, penalties, fines, costs and liability, including damages
for loss or restriction in use of the TimberWest Lands, sums paid in settlement of claims,
legal fees, consultants’ fees and experts’ fees, whether arising in contract, tort or
otherwise (collectively, the “Losses”), which the RDN may suffer, incur or be put to in
connection with:

(a) any occurrence on the Licence Area; and
(b) the use and occupation of the Licence Area by RDN,
except where such losses are caused by the conduct of TimberWest or TimberWest's

Representatives on the TimberWest Lands, where such Losses are attributable to the
acts, omissions or negligence of TimberWest or TimberWest’'s Representatives including
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8.1

9.1

9.2

Losses attributable to the wilful misconduct or gross negligence of TimberWest or
TimberWest’'s Representatives.

ARTICLE 8
INDEMNIFICATION

The RDN will indemnify and save harmless TimberWest and TimberWest's
Representatives from and against all Losses which are in any manner based upon, arise
out of or are connected with:

(@) the use or occupation of the Licence Area by the RDN or the RDN’s
Representatives;

(b) any breach by the RDN of any of the terms or conditions of this Agreement; and

(© the presence of any Hazardous Substance in, upon, above, under or in the vicinity
of the Licence Area caused by the RDN or the RDN’s Representatives, and for
greater certainty, Losses incurred by TimberWest to remediate any such
Hazardous Substances, required to be carried out by law or pursuant to an order of
a Governmental Authority, are subject to this indemnity.

ARTICLE 9
INSURANCE

The RDN, at its expense, will obtain and keep in force at all times during the Term:

(a) commercial general liability insurance in an amount not less than $5,000,000 per
occurrence, including non-owned automobile liability insurance in an amount not
less than $5,000,000 per occurrence, against liability for personal injury, bodily
injury, death and broad form property damage or loss, arising from accidents or
occurrences on or in the vicinity of the Licence Area due to the use or occupation of
the Licence Area by the RDN or the RDN’s Representatives for the purposes set
out in section 3.1; and

(b) broad form fire-fighting expenses liability insurance in an amount not less than
$1,000,000 per occurrence.

Every policy of insurance required to be maintained by the RDN under this Agreement
(the “Required Insurance”) will:

(a) name TimberWest as an additional insured;

(b) be placed with insurers licenced to do business in Canada with at least an “A”
financial strength rating or better by A.M. Best;

(© be primary and will not require the sharing of any loss by any insurer that insures
TimberWest;

(d) contain a provision for cross liability and a severability of interest provision; and
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9.3

9.4

10.1

10.2

10.3

(e) be endorsed to provide that the insurer will not make any material adverse
changes to the policy that would impact the insurance required under this
Agreement without first giving TimberWest at least 30 days’ prior written notice.

The RDN will, as soon as reasonably possible deliver to TimberWest a certificate of
insurance evidencing placement of the Required Insurance. The RDN will, upon written
request of any TimberWest deliver to TimberWest such other evidence of insurance as
may be reasonably requested by TimberWest.

If the RDN does not obtain or maintain in force the Required Insurance or provide proof of
such insurance within 30 days of request by written notice by TimberWest, TimberWest
may take out the Required Insurance and pay the premiums, and the RDN will reimburse
TimberWest for such premiums.

ARTICLE 10
TERMINATION

TimberWest may terminate this Agreement and the rights herein granted in respect of the
Licence:

(a) immediately on written notice to the RDN if the RDN breaches or fails to comply
with any of its material obligations under this Agreement and fails to remedy the
breach or failure within 15 days of receiving written notice of such breach or failure
or, if such breach or failure reasonably requires more than 15 days to remedy, if
the RDN has not commenced diligently remedying such breach or failure within
twenty (20) days of receipt of such notice or thereafter fails to continue to diligently
and expeditiously remedy such breach or failure;

(b) on 10 day’s prior written notice to the RDN if the Common Usage Agreement
ceases to be a valid and binding agreement or in the event of a breakdown in the
relationship between the RDN and the Society;

(© on six months’ prior written notice to the RDN for any reason, as determined by
TimberWest in its sole discretion; or

The RDN may terminate this Agreement in respect of the Licence Area, for any reason, in
its sole discretion, on three months’ prior written notice to TimberWest.

On the expiration or earlier termination of this Agreement, at its expense the RDN will:

@) remove from the Licence Area all of its vehicles, machinery, equipment,
apparatus, and materials and supplies; and

(b) deliver possession of the Licence Area to TimberWest in the same condition as
received, ordinary wear and tear and approved Biosolids applications excepted,;
and

(© unless otherwise directed by TimberWest, remove from the Licenced Area all
Works constructed by the RDN.
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10.5

10.6

111

11.2

If the RDN does not fulfill its obligations set out in section 10.3 within 30 days of the
expiration or earlier termination of this Agreement, TimberWest may elect to complete
such obligations on the RDN’s behalf and the cost thereof will be due and payable by the
RDN within 60 days after receipt of an invoice therefor.

Upon the expiration or earlier termination of this Agreement, all outstanding obligations
remaining or being unfulfilled as at the date of expiration or termination and all of the
provisions of this Agreement relating to the obligation of the RDN to perform actions or to
account to or to indemnify TimberWest and pay to TimberWest any monies owing as at the
date of expiration or termination in connection with this Agreement will survive such
expiration or termination.

The RDN will not be entitled to any compensation, whether for damages or otherwise, in
respect of a permitted termination of this Agreement by TimberWest under this Article.

ARTICLE 11
NOTICE

Each party’s contact information for purposes of routine communications regarding

(i) public communications and notifications and (ii) general operations in connection with
this Agreement is attached as Schedule B. Each party will endeavor to inform the other

party in a timely manner when such contact information has been changed and any such
changes will not be deemed to be amendments to this Agreement.

Any demand, notice or other communication to be given in connection with this
Agreement, other than the routine communications described in section 11.1, must be
given in writing and will be given by registered mail or by electronic means of
communication addressed to the recipient as follows:

To TimberWest:
201 — 648 Terminal Avenue
Nanaimo, British Columbia
VIR 5E2

Fax: (250) 716-3763
E-mail: iannidinardod @timberwest.com

Attention: Domenico lannidinardo, VP, Sustainability & Chief Forester
To the RDN:

6300 Hammond Bay Road

Nanaimo, British Columbia

VOT 6N2

Fax: (250) 390-1542
E-mail: sdepol@rdn.bc.ca

Attention: Sean De Pol, Manager, Wastewater Services
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12.1

12.2

12.3

12.4

12.5

12.6

or to such other street address, individual or electronic communication number or address
as may be designated by notice given by any party to the other parties. Any demand,
notice or other communication will be conclusively deemed to have been given, if given by
registered mail, on the fifth Business Day following the deposit thereof in the mail and, if
given by electronic communication, on the day of transmittal thereof if given during the
normal business hours of the recipient and on the Business Day during which such normal
business hours next occur if not given during such hours on any day. If the party giving
any demand, notice or other communication knows or ought reasonably to know of any
difficulties with the postal system that might affect the delivery of registered mail, any such
demand, notice or other communication may not be mailed but must be given by
electronic communication.

ARTICLE 12
MISCELLANEOUS

Costs and Expenses. Except as otherwise expressly set out in this Agreement, each party
will be solely responsible for all costs and expenses it incurs in:

(a) preparing, reviewing and negotiating this Agreement; and
(b) fulfilling any of its obligations under this Agreement.

Ownership of Works. Subject to subsection 4.1(g), immediately upon completion of the
construction of any Works on the Licenced Area such Works will become the property of
TimberWest. Notwithstanding the foregoing, all right, title and interest in any Works the
RDN is required to remove from the Licensed Area pursuant to subsections 4.1(g) or
10.3(c) will be deemed to vest automatically in the RDN immediately upon such removal.

Annual Review. The parties will endeavor to meet annually to discuss the operation of this
Agreement and whether any amendments thereto are required.

Governing Law / Exclusive Jurisdiction. This Agreement will be construed and governed
in accordance with the laws of British Columbia and Canada applicable therein, which will
be deemed to be the proper law hereof, and the courts of British Columbia will have the
exclusive jurisdiction to determine all claims and disputes arising out of or in any way
connected with this Agreement.

Assignment. The RDN will not assign, transfer or sublicence this Agreement in whole or in
part without the prior written consent of TimberWest, which consent TimberWest may
withhold.

Waiver. No term, condition, covenant or other provision herein will be considered to have
been waived by TimberWest unless such waiver is expressed in writing by TimberWest.
Any such waiver of any term, condition, covenant or other provision herein will not be
construed as or constitute a waiver of any further or other breach of the same or any other
term, condition, covenant, or other provision and the consent or approval of TimberWest
to any act by the RDN requiring the consent or approval of TimberWest will not be
considered to waive or render unnecessary such consents or approvals to any
subsequent similar act by the Association.
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12.7

12.8

12.9

12.10

12.11

12.12

Remedies Cumulative. No remedy conferred upon or reserved to TimberWest under this
Agreement is exclusive of any other remedy herein or provided by law, but such remedy
will be cumulative and will be in addition to any other remedy herein or hereafter existing at
law, in equity, or by statute.

Entire Agreement. This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between the parties
with respect to the subject matter hereof and cancels and supersedes any prior
understandings and agreements between the parties with respect thereto. There are no
representations, warranties, terms, conditions, undertakings or collateral agreements,
express, implied or statutory, between the parties other than as expressly set forth in this
Agreement.

Successors. The terms and provisions of this Agreement will extend to, be binding upon
and enure to the benefit of the parties hereto and their successors and permitted assigns.

Time. Time is of the essence in this Agreement.
Further Assurances. Each of the parties will do or cause to be done all things and execute

or cause to be executed all documents and give such further and other assurances which
may be reasonably necessary to give proper effect to the intent of this Agreement.

Counterparts and Electronic Transmission. This Agreement may be executed by the
parties in counterparts and transmitted by electronic means, and if so executed and
transmitted this Agreement will be for all purposes as effective as if the parties had
delivered an executed original Agreement.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Agreement as of the day and year first
above written.

by TimberWest: by the RDN:
TIMBERWEST FOREST COMPANY, by its THE REGIONAL DISTRICT OF NANIAMO
Managing Partner, TIMBERWEST
FOREST CORP.
By: By:

Authorized Signatory Authorized Signatory
By: By:

Authorized Signatory Authorized Signatory
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SCHEDULE B

CONTACT INFORMATION

Party

Public Communications and
Notifications

General Operations

TimberWest

Primary:

Monica Bailey
(250)716-3711
baileym@timberwest.com

Secondary:

Patti Pearce
(250)716-3752
pearcep@timberwest.com

Primary:

Ken Dodd
(250)716-3772
doddk@timberwest.com

Secondary:

Richard Stevens
(250)716-3723
stevensr@timberwest.com

REGIONAL

DISTRICT
OF NANAIMO

Primary:

Shelley Norum
(250)390-6575
snorum@rdn.bc.ca
Secondary:

Sean De Pol
250-390-6547
sdepol@rdn.bc.ca

Primary:

Sean De Pol
250-390-6547
sdepol@rdn.bc.ca
Secondary:

lan Lundman
250-751-5580
ilundman@rdn.bc.ca
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SCHEDULE C
“TIMBERWEST SAFE ROAD USE PROCEDURES”

The following procedures apply to all TimberWest resource roads. All users must be
familiar with these procedures to ensure safe traveling conditions for all authorized
industrial and recreational road users. In the event these procedures conflict with the
user’s own policies the TimberWest safe road use procedures will take priority. If a Prime
Contractor has been designated to a specific road, they may have additional procedures
that supplement TimberWest’s, which will be specified during prework discussions
(where applicable).

All vehicles:

e All road users (industrial, authorized recreational) must be fully licensed with correct
endorsements, adequately insured for the vehicles intended use and follow all applicable
driving legislation.

¢ Check with the local TimberWest office to ensure you have contact information for the
designated Prime Contractor, if your vehicle is equipped with a radio you must have the
correct communication channel(s) and know the current status of log hauling and other
industrial use on the desired roads of travel. Generally all South Island road traffic is on the
South Island Road Channel 153.110 tx/rx, Tone 203.5 unless otherwise posted. Similarly,
North Island traffic monitors the “Haul Channel” (158.430 tx/rx) and TFL 47 traffic is location
specific (contact TimberWest for this information).

o Follow the posted speed limits (Maximum 60 km/hr or less if not posted) with
headlights/taillights on at all times.

e Observe and obey all posted signage.

o All traffic must drive on the right-hand side of the road.

o Drive by the road conditions and visibility (sight lines, dust or weather related visibility). Roads
are radio assisted not radio controlled. Drive accordingly and expect the unexpected.

¢ Deactivated roads may or may not be posted. It is suggested that you obtain information
regarding road deactivation status from TimberWest before you begin your trip.

e Maintain safe distances when following other vehicles and use extra caution when driving in
dusty conditions. Also use extreme caution when overtaking slower vehicles.

Always give industrial traffic the right-of-way. (Pull over and stop).

e When passing logging trucks, low beds, graders, etc. make sure the operator is aware of your
intentions and signals you verbally or visually before proceeding to pass; then pass only when
road conditions are favourable.

e Watch out for “sweepers” which are very long logs hauled on logging trucks. They can hang
over the back of the trailer up to 6 meters and on a tight corner could sweep a vehicle off the
road.

o Do not block the road or stop on the running surface for any reason — logging trucks require a
lot of room for safe travel and to safely stop. Do not impede their access at any time. Itis
essential that logging trucks be able to use the roads without delays. If you must stop, find a
turnout or wide spot and park well off the road.

o Be aware that off highway trucks with wide bunks have very little opportunity to move off the
center of the road grade, except on wide mainlines. Ensure you find a turnout that enables the
logging truck adequate clearance for safe passage.

o Report vandalism or other suspicious activities to a TimberWest representative.

o Report all hazards immediately to Prime Contractor or TimberWest representative.
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Industrial:

e All vehicles and drivers must comply with applicable rules and regulations (WorkSafe BC,
Department of Transportation, MFLNRO statutes and legislation, National Safety Code, and
Motor Vehicle Act, etc.) that will ensure proper driving, loading, securing, inspection and
maintenance.

o Down/Loaded vehicles have the right-of-way.

e TimberWest typically maintains the bridge infrastructure to support L165 tons. For active
crossings that support less than L165, TimberWest identifies the load rating with posted
signage stating the load rating in the field (i.e. L100, L75, 5 tonnes/pickup, etc.). In the event
users have concerns, contact TimberWest representative for assistance.

Note: Notify TimberWest Contract Manager or designated TimberWest representative prior to
walking (point loading) across structures with equipment 75 tonnes or greater so TimberWest can
ensure structure can safely support the weight.

RADIO CALLING:

Known Hazards

1. Losing track of your location 5. Unnecessary radio chatter

2. Losing track of other vehicles location 6. Using the wrong frequency

3. Meeting oncoming vehicles without a radio 7. “Walking over” other calls

4. Not following calling procedures 8. Being distracted (i.e. phones, music,
passengers)

Procedures:

1. The terms “UP” for increasing numbers and “DOWN?” for decreasing numbers are the
preferred methods for calling, although users may at times hear “EMPTY” for increasing
and “LOADED” for decreasing. North Island’s practice is for logging truck traffic to use
“‘LOADED/EMPTY”, and all other traffic to use “UP/DOWN” in order to identify direction of
travel.

2. Preferred Radio Call: Road name followed by the kilometer position then Up or Down
(e.g. “North Shore ... 2 km ... Up”).

3. All vehicles should call their location/direction of travel:

. When entering or leaving a road system.

. Whenever there is a road frequency/channel change.

. Whenever you are stopping and parking on the road, and again when you resume.

. When encounter a vehicle without a radio (Identify the vehicles position and
direction of travel).

4. Radio Calling protocol — loaded vehicles:

. Loaded vehicles (i.e. logging trucks, gravel trucks, lowbeds, and fuel trucks) must

call at minimum every two km'’s, preferably every km when traffic is near,
regardless of direction of travel.
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5. Radio Calling protocol — all other vehicles, regardless of direction of travel:

. Must call every km when within three km’s of oncoming radio assisted traffic.
o As a courtesy, should call every five km’s.
o As a courtesy, identify themselves: pick-up, low-bed, fuel truck, grader, etc. (i.e.

“pick-up... North Shore ... 2 km... Up”).
6. Convoy calling:

o The lead vehicle is responsible for calling for all vehicles within the convoy. (i.e.
“Convoy of 4 pickups...North Shore...13 km...UP”)

Remember, roads are radio assisted — not radio controlled, drive accordingly!
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AGREEMENT

THIS AGREEMENT made this day of , 2017.

BETWEEN:
THE REGIONAL DISTRICT OF NANAIMO
6300 Hammond Bay Road
Nanaimo, British Columbia V9T 6N2

(the "RDN")

OF THE FIRST PART

AND:
THE NANAIMO MOUNTAIN BIKE CLUB
5732 Hammond Bay Road
Nanaimo, British Columbia V9T 5N2

(the "Society")

OF THE SECOND PART

WHEREAS:

A. The RDN and the Society have each entered into Licences of Occupation with
TimberWest Forest Company over lands beneficially owned by TimberWest

Forest Company legally described as:

PID: 009-842-586
Block 355, Dunsmuir District;

PID: 009-842-616
Block 463, Dunsmuir District, Except Part In Plan 27690; and

PID: 009-438-203
Block 505, Nanoose District.

Collectively, (the “TimberWest Lands”);

B. The Society has a Licence of Occupation to use a portion of TimberWest Lands
for the purposes of establishing a designated mountain bike area including a

network of managed trails for mountain biking;

C. The RDN has a Licence of Occupation to use a portion of TimberWest Lands for
the purposes of the application of biosolids as fertilizer in accordance with its
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Biosolids Application Program;

D. RDN and the Society have agreed to share information and coordinate their
respective uses of the TimberWest Lands in accordance with the terms and
conditions set out in this Agreement.

NOW THEREFORE in consideration of the mutual covenants and agreements herein,
the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged by the parties, the parties
agree as follows:

ARTICLE 1
INTERPRETATION

1.1 Capitalized words and phrases used in this Agreement have the following
meanings:

(a)

(b)

(©

(d)

(e)

(f)

(@)

(h)

@i

“Biking Area” means those areas shown in orange diagonal lines on
Schedule “A” as biking area.

“Biosolids Area” means those areas shown in green crosshatching on
Schedule “A” as biosolids area.

“Future Bike Trails” mean new proposed bike trails on the TimberWest
Lands that are approved under the Trail Management Plan.

“‘RDN Licence of Occupation” means a Licence Agreement between
RDN and TimberWest Forest Company for the RDN’s use of the
TimberWest Lands for its biosolids application program.

‘RDN’s Representatives” means the RDN’s directors, officers,
employees, contractors, subcontractors, agents and invitees.

‘Road Use Rules” are the rules established by TimberWest and set out in
Schedule “B”.

“Society’s Licence of Occupation” means an Agreement between the
Society and TimberWest Forest Company over the TimberWest Lands for
purpose of the Society’s creation and use of mountain bike trails.

“Society’s Representatives” means the Society’s directors, officers,
members, contractors, subcontractors, agents and invited guests.

“Trail Management Plan” means a comprehensive Trail Management
Plan that describes all projects the Society plans to undertake in respect of

96



1.2

1.3

1.4

15

2.1

3.1

3.2

3.3
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the construction and maintenance of existing and proposed bike trails for
the next calendar year, where such management plan establishes
priorities and identifies funding sources for the projects (“Works”) and
identifies the portions of the TimberWest Lands that will be affected by the
Works.

In this Agreement, unless the context otherwise requires, the singular includes
the plural and the masculine includes the feminine gender and a corporation, and
the word “including”, when following any general statement, will be construed to
refer to all other things that could reasonably fall within the scope of such general
statement, whether or not non-limiting language (such as “without limitation” or
“without limiting the generality of the foregoing”) is used with reference thereto.

The captions and headings contained in this Agreement are for convenience only
and are not to be construed as defining or in any way limiting the scope or intent
of the provisions herein.

If any provision of this Agreement or any part of a provision is found to be illegal
or unenforceable, that part or provision, as the case may be, will be considered
separate and severable and the remaining parts or provisions, as the case may
be, will not be affected thereby and will be enforceable to the fullest extent
permitted by law.

All schedules attached to this agreement form part of this Agreement.

ARTICLE 2
TERM

The term of this Agreement is from the 1st day of June, 2017 to the 31st day of
May, 2021, unless earlier terminated in accordance with the terms of the
Agreement.

ARTICLE 3
SOCIETY’S AGREEMENTS

The Society agrees within 90 days of entering into this Agreement, to produce
and provide to the RDN a trail inventory of existing bike trails.

The Society shall develop and implement a Trail Management Plan and provide
to the RDN a copy of the Trail Management Plan within 120 days of the
execution and delivery of this Agreement, and update and submit annually, within
30 days of the Anniversary of this Agreement, a copy of an updated Trail
Management Plan.

Following completion of the trail inventory and the Trail Management Plan,
changes to the Biosolids Area and the Biking Area may be required. If required,
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3.5

3.6

3.7

3.8

3.9

3.10

3.11
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the RDN and the Society, acting reasonably and cooperatively, may define and
agree on a Future Bike Trails in the Biosolids Area and future biosolids
application area in the Biking Area.

The Society agrees to develop trail difficulty ratings and signage and to post
these ratings and signs at the commencement of the trails managed under the
Trail Management Plan, and any Future Bike Trails.

The Society agrees to communicate the rules and regulations applicable to the
Bike Trall, trails managed under the Trail Management Plan, and any Future Bike
Trails to public users and its members by:

(@) posting them on the Society’s website;
(b)  posting them at trailforks.com; and
(c) presenting them at public information meetings and open houses.

The Society agrees to construct and maintain the trails managed under the Trail
Management Plan, and Future Bike Trails to Whistler Trail Standards attached as
Schedule “C”.

The Society agrees to follow the Road Use Rules attached as Schedule B.

The Society agrees to cease using any existing bike trails on the Biosolids Area
for the purposes of approved Society activities, rides and events.

The Society’s agreements and obligations herein apply exclusively to approved
activities of the Society, including Society rides, events and activities on the
TimberWest Lands, pursuant to the Society’s rights under the Society’s License
of Occupation. The Society takes no responsibility for recreational users of the
TimberWest Lands who use the trails outside of the Society’s control, except to
the extent that the Society has agreed to educate recreational users and
develop, rate, sign, and maintain trails managed under the Trail Management
Plan in accordance with the Trail Management Plan and Whistler Trall
Standards.

The Society’s agreements and obligations herein apply to trails approved by the
Society and identified as such on the Trail Management Plan and the educational
material produced by the Society. The Society is not responsible for deactivating
trails that were not previously approved by the Society and managed under the
Trail Management Plan.

The Society agrees to participate with the RDN in the development of a
Communications Plan.
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The Society agrees to participate in an annual open house at the TimberWest
Lands to promote the shared use of the TimberWest Lands.

ARTICLE 4
RDN’S AGREEMENTS

In continuing to apply biosolids fertilization on a portion of TimberWest Lands as
contemplated in RDN’s Licence of Occupation, the RDN agrees not to apply the
biosolids fertilization within 30 metres of Future Bike Trails.

Following completion of the trail inventory and the Trail Management Plan,
changes to the Biosolids Area and the Biking Area may be required. If required,
the RDN and the Society, acting reasonably and cooperatively, may define and
agree on a Future Bike Trails in the Biosolids Area and future biosolids
application area in the Biking Area.

The RDN agrees that it will not apply biosolids fertilization or any other product
licensed by TimberWest under the RDN’s License of Occupation, on the Biking
Area except with the approval of the Society.

The RDN agrees that if it spreads biosolids Future Bike Trails, or within the
Biking Area, or the 30 meter boundary areas (collectively, the “Protected Area”),
the RDN will remediate and remove all biosolids material, at its own expense
absolutely, from the Protected Area within a reasonable period of time of the
RDN becoming aware that biosolids has been spread on the Protected Area.

RDN agrees within 90 days of entering into this Agreement, at an expense not to
exceed $20,000, to collect data on the inventory of existing mountain Bike Trails
on the TimberWest Lands and provide that data to the Society for the purposes
of the Society supplementing the data with the trail features and difficulty rating.

The RDN agrees to participate with the Society in the development of a
Communications Plan.

The RDN agrees to participate in an annual open house at the TimberWest
Lands to promote the shared use of the TimberWest Lands.

ARTICLE 5

The parties agree with each other to cooperate and work closely together to
manage the interactions between the RDN'’s Biosolids Application Program and
the Society and the Society’s Representatives use of trails managed under the
Trail Management Plan, and Future Bike Trails.

ARTICLE 6
RECIPROCAL RELEASE AND INDEMNIFICATION
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The Society will not be liable for, and the RDN hereby releases and discharges
the Society and the Society’s Representatives from, all loss, expense, claims,
demands, actions, suits, proceedings, judgments, damages, penalties, fines,
costs and liability, including damages for loss or restriction in use of the
TimberWest Lands, sums paid in settlement of claims, legal fees, consultant fees
and expert fees, whether arising in contract, tort or otherwise (collectively, the
“Losses”) which the RDN may suffer, incur, or be put to in connection with:

a) the use or occupation of the TimberWest Lands by the RDN or the RDN’s
Representatives; or

b) the Society or the Society’s Representatives on the TimberWest Lands,
whether or not such Losses are attributable to the acts, omissions or
negligence of the Society or the Society’s Representatives, unless such
Losses are attributable to the wilful misconduct or gross negligence of the
Society or the Society’s representatives.

The RDN will not be liable for, and the Society hereby releases and discharges
the RDN and the RDN’s Representatives from, all loss, expense, claims,
demands, actions, suits, proceedings, judgments, damages, penalties, fines,
costs and liability, including damages for loss or restriction in use of the
TimberWest Lands, sums paid in settlement of claims, legal fees, consultant’s
fees and expert fees, whether arising in contract, tort or otherwise (collectively,
the “Losses”) which the Society or the Society’s Representatives may suffer,
incur or be put to in connection with:

a) the use or occupation of the TimberWest Lands by the Society and the
Society’s Representatives; or

b) conduct of the RDN or the RDN’s Representatives on the TimberWest
Lands, whether or not such Losses are attributable to the acts, omissions
or negligence of the RDN or the RDN’s Representatives, unless such
Losses are attributable to the wilful misconduct or gross negligence of the
RDN or the RDN’s Representatives.

The RDN will indemnify and save harmless the Society and the Society’s
Representatives from and against all loss, expense, claims, demands, actions,
suits, proceedings, judgments, damages, penalties, fines, costs and liability,
including damages for loss or restriction in use of the TimberWest Lands, sums
paid in settlement of claims, legal fees, consultant fees and expert fees, whether
arising in contract, tort or otherwise (collectively, the “Losses”) which are in any
manner based upon, arise out of or connected with:

(@) the use or occupation of the TimberWest Lands by the RDN or the RDN'’s
Representatives; and
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(b) the conduct of RDN or the RDN’s Representatives on the TimberWest
Lands.

The Society will indemnify and save harmless the RDN and the RDN'’s
Representatives from and against all loss, expense, claims, demands, actions,
suits, proceedings judgments, damages, penalties, fines, costs and liability,
including damages for loss or restriction in use of the TimberWest Lands, sums
paid in settlement of claims, legal fees, consultant fees and expert fees, whether
arising in contract, tort or otherwise (collectively, the “Losses”) which are in any
manner based upon, arise out of or connected with:

(@) the use or occupation of the TimberWest Lands by the Society or the
Society’s Representatives; and

(b) the conduct of Society or the Society’s Representatives on the TimberWest
Lands.

ARTICLE 7
INSURANCE

7.1 The Society, at its expense, will maintain liability insurance that meets the
requirements of the Society’s License of Occupancy (“Society Insurance”).

Every policy of insurance required to be maintained by the Society under this
Agreement (the “Required Insurance”) will:

(@) name RDN as additional insureds;

(b) provide for deductibles in amounts not greater than $2,500 unless otherwise
agreed to in writing by the RDN;

(c) be placed with insurers licensed to do business in Canada with at least an
“A” financial strength rating or better by A.M. Best;

(d) be primary and will not require the sharing of any loss by any insurer that
insures the RDN;

(e) contain a provision for cross liability and a severability of interest provision;
and

() be endorsed to provide that the insurer will not make any material adverse
changes to the policy that would impact the insurance required under this
Agreement without first giving each of the insureds at least 30 days’ prior
written notice.
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The Society will, as soon as reasonably possible, deliver to the RDN a certificate
of insurance evidencing placement of the Required Insurance. The Society will,
upon written request of the RDN deliver to the RDN other evidence of insurance
as may be reasonably requested by the RDN.

The RDN will maintain liability insurance that meets the requirements of the
RDN'’s License of Occupancy (“RDN Insurance”).

Following the implementation of the insurance referenced in section 7.4, the RDN
will advise the Society of any increase in the cost of the RDN’s liability insurance
arising out of the Society’s use of the TimberWest Lands and the reason for such
increase. If the Society is unable or unwilling to adjust its activities to eliminate
such increase in the RDN’s insurance costs, the Society will reimburse the RDN
upon written request for the amount of such increase.

The Society will not do anything on the TimberWest Lands that will cause any
Required Insurance to be invalidated or cancelled, and the Society will take all
reasonable steps forthwith to comply with every lawful notice in writing from any
insurer providing such policies requiring the execution of works or discontinuance
of any use of the TimberWest Lands in order to avoid invalidation or cancellation
of any such insurance.

The Society hereby fully releases and discharges the RDN from any and all direct
or indirect losses, costs, liabilities and damages caused by or resulting from any
of the perils or injury against which it has covenanted in this Agreement to insure,
as defined in the Required Insurance, even if the Society has failed to obtain the
Required Insurance.

The RDN hereby fully releases and discharges the Society from any and all direct
or indirect losses, costs, liabilities and damages caused by or resulting from any
of the perils or injury against which it has covenanted in this Agreement to insure,
even if the RDN has failed to so insure.

If the Society does not obtain or maintain in force the Required Insurance or
provide proof of such insurance within 30 days of request by written notice by the
RDN may take out the Required Insurance and pay the premiums, and the
Society will reimburse the RDN for such premiums.

The RDN is insured against claims in negligence with the Municipal Insurance
Association.

ARTICLE 8
TERMINATION

This Agreement terminates prior to the expiry of its Term in the event that the
RDN'’s or the Society’s Licence of Occupation expires or is terminated.
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Each party to this Agreement may terminate this Agreement by giving to the
other party Sixty (60) days written notice for any reason as determined by each
party in its sole discretion.

Each party may terminate this Agreement if the other party breaches or fails to
comply with any of its obligations under this Agreement and fails to remedy the
breach or failure within Thirty (30) days of receiving written notice of such breach
or failure, or if such breach or failure reasonably requires more than Thirty (30)
days to remedy, if either party has not commenced diligently remedying such
breach or failure within Ten (10) days of receipt of such notice or thereafter fails
to continue to diligently and expeditiously remedy such breach or failure.

ARTICLE 9
NOTICE

It is hereby mutually agreed that any notice required to be given under this
Agreement will be deemed to be sufficiently given:

(@) to be delivered at the time of delivery; and

(b) if mailed from any government post office in the Province of British
Columbia by prepaid registered mail addressed as follows:

if to the RDN;

6300 Hammond Bay Road
Nanaimo BC
VIT 6N2

if to the Society:

5732 Hammond Bay Road
Nanaimo BC
VIT 5N2

Unless otherwise specified herein, any notice required to be given under this
Agreement by any party will be deemed to have been given if mailed by prepaid
registered mail, or sent by facsimile transmission, or delivered to the address of
the other party set forth on the first page of this Agreement or at such other
address as the other party may from time to time direct in writing, and any such
notice will be deemed to have been received if mailed or faxed, 72 hours after the
time of mailing or faxing and, if delivered, upon the date of delivery. If normal mail
service or facsimile service is interrupted by strike, slow down, force majeure or
other cause, then a notice sent by the impaired means of communication will not
be deemed to be received until actually received, and the party sending the
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notice must utilize any other such services which have not been so interrupted or
must deliver such notice in order to ensure prompt receipt thereof.

ARTICLE 10
TIME

Time is to be the essence of this Agreement.

ARTICLE 11
BINDING EFFECT

This Agreement will enure to the benefit of and be binding upon the parties
hereto and their respective heirs, administrators, executors, successors, and
permitted assignees.

ARTICLE 12
WAIVER

The waiver by a party of any failure on the part of the other party to perform in
accordance with any of the terms or conditions of this Agreement is not to be
construed as a waiver of any future or continuing failure, whether similar or
dissimilar.

ARTICLE 13
HEADINGS

Section and paragraph headings are inserted for identification purposes only and
do not form a part of the Agreement.

ARTICLE 14
LANGUAGE

Wherever the singular, masculine and neuter are used throughout this
Agreement, the same is to be construed as meaning the plural or the feminine or
the body corporate or politic as the context so requires.

ARTICLE 15
CUMULATIVE REMEDIES

No remedy under this Agreement is to be deemed exclusive but will, where
possible, be cumulative with all other remedies at law or in equity.

ARTICLE 16
LAW APPLICABLE

This Agreement is to be construed in accordance with and governed by the laws
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applicable in the Province of British Columbia.

ARTICLE 17
RELATIONSHIP OF PARTIES

No provision of this Agreement shall be construed to create a partnership or joint
venture relationship, an employer-employee relationship, a landlord-tenant, or a
principal-agent relationship.

ARTICLE 18
AMENDMENT

This Agreement may not be modified or amended except by the written
agreement of the parties.

ARTICLE 19
INTEGRATION

This Agreement contains the entire agreement and understanding of the parties
with respect to the matters contemplated by this Agreement and supersedes all
prior and contemporaneous agreements between them with respect to such
matters.

ARTICLE 20
SURVIVAL

All representations and warranties set forth in this Agreement and all provisions
of this Agreement, the full performance of which is not required prior to a
termination of this Agreement, shall survive any such termination and be fully
enforceable thereafter.

ARTICLE 21
NOTICE OF VIOLATIONS

Each party shall promptly notify the other party of any matter which is likely to
continue or give rise to a violation of its obligations under this Agreement.

ARTICLE 22
ENTIRE AGREEMENT

The whole agreement between the parties is set forth in this document and no

representations, warranties or conditions, express or implied, have been made
other than those expressed.
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ARTICLE 23
SEVERABILITY

23.1 Each article of this Agreement shall be severable. If any provision of this
Agreement is held to be illegal or invalid by a Court of competent jurisdiction, the
provision may be severed and the illegality or invalidity shall not affect the validity
of the remainder of this Agreement.

ARTICLE 24
COUNTERPART AND ELECTRONIC TRANSMISSION

24.1 This Agreement may be executed by the parties in counterparts and transmitted
by electronic means, and if so executed and transmitted this Agreement will be
for all purposes as effective as if the parties had delivered an executed original
Agreement.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF the parties have executed this Agreement as of the day and
year first above written.

THE REGIONAL DISTRICT OF NANAIMO,
by its authorized signatories

Name:

Name:

THE NANAIMO MOUNTAIN BIKE CLUB,
by its authorized signatories

Name:

Name:
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SCHEDULE B
“TimberWest Safe Road Use Procedures”

The following procedures apply to all TimberWest resource roads. All users must be
familiar with these procedures to ensure safe traveling conditions for all authorized
industrial and recreational road users. In the event these procedures conflict with the
user’s own policies the TimberWest safe road use procedures will take priority. If a
Prime Contractor has been designated to a specific road, they may have additional
procedures that supplement TimberWest’s, which will be specified during prework
discussions (where applicable).

All vehicles:

All road users (industrial, authorized recreational) must be fully licensed with correct
endorsements, adequately insured for the vehicles intended use and follow all applicable
driving legislation.

Check with the local TimberWest office to ensure you have contact information for the
designated Prime Contractor, if your vehicle is equipped with a radio you must have the
correct communication channel(s) and know the current status of log hauling and other
industrial use on the desired roads of travel. Generally all South Island road traffic is on the
South Island Road Channel 153.110 tx/rx, Tone 203.5 unless otherwise posted. Similarly,
North Island traffic monitors the “Haul Channel” (158.430 tx/rx) and TFL 47 traffic is location
specific (contact TimberWest for this information).

Follow the posted speed limits (Maximum 60 km/hr or less if not posted) with
headlights/taillights on at all times.

Observe and obey all posted signage.

All traffic must drive on the right-hand side of the road.

Drive by the road conditions and visibility (sight lines, dust or weather related visibility).
Roads are radio assisted not radio controlled. Drive accordingly and expect the
unexpected.

Deactivated roads may or may not be posted. It is suggested that you obtain information
regarding road deactivation status from TimberWest before you begin your trip.

Maintain safe distances when following other vehicles and use extra caution when driving in
dusty conditions. Also use extreme caution when overtaking slower vehicles.

Always give industrial traffic the right-of-way. (Pull over and stop).

When passing logging trucks, low beds, graders, etc. make sure the operator is aware of
your intentions and signals you verbally or visually before proceeding to pass; then pass
only when road conditions are favourable.

Watch out for “sweepers” which are very long logs hauled on logging trucks. They can hang
over the back of the trailer up to 6 meters and on a tight corner could sweep a vehicle off the
road.

Do not block the road or stop on the running surface for any reason — logging trucks require
a lot of room for safe travel and to safely stop. Do not impede their access at any time. Itis
essential that logging trucks be able to use the roads without delays. If you must stop, find a
turnout or wide spot and park well off the road.

Be aware that off highway trucks with wide bunks have very little opportunity to move off the
center of the road grade, except on wide mainlines. Ensure you find a turnout that enables
the logging truck adequate clearance for safe passage.

Report vandalism or other suspicious activities to a TimberWest representative.
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o Report all hazards immediately to Prime Contractor or TimberWest representative.
Industrial:

e All vehicles and drivers must comply with applicable rules and regulations (WorkSafe BC,
Department of Transportation, MFLNRO statutes and legislation, National Safety Code, and
Motor Vehicle Act, etc.) that will ensure proper driving, loading, securing, inspection and
maintenance.

o Down/Loaded vehicles have the right-of-way.

TimberWest typically maintains the bridge infrastructure to support L165 tons. For active
crossings that support less than L165, TimberWest identifies the load rating with posted
signage stating the load rating in the field (i.e. L100, L75, 5 tonnes/pickup, etc.). In the
event users have concerns, contact TimberWest representative for assistance.

Note: Notify TimberWest Contract Manager or designated TimberWest representative prior to
walking (point loading) across structures with equipment 75 tonnes or greater so TimberWest
can ensure structure can safely support the weight.

RADIO CALLING:

Known Hazards

1. Losing track of your location 5. Unnecessary radio chatter
2. Losing track of other vehicles location 6. Using the wrong frequency
3. Meeting oncoming vehicles without a 7. “Walking over” other calls
radio 8. Being distracted (i.e. phones, music,
4. Not following calling procedures passengers)

Procedures:

1. The terms “UP” for increasing numbers and “DOWN?” for decreasing numbers are the
preferred methods for calling, although users may at times hear “EMPTY” for increasing
and “LOADED?” for decreasing. North Island’s practice is for logging truck traffic to use
“‘LOADED/EMPTY”, and all other traffic to use “UP/DOWN” in order to identify direction
of travel.

2. Preferred Radio Call: Road name followed by the kilometer position then Up or Down
(e.g. “North Shore ... 2 km ... Up”).

3. All vehicles should call their location/direction of travel:

. When entering or leaving a road system.

. Whenever there is a road frequency/channel change.

. Whenever you are stopping and parking on the road, and again when you
resume.

. When encounter a vehicle without a radio (Identify the vehicles position and

direction of travel).
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Radio Calling protocol — loaded vehicles:
. Loaded vehicles (i.e. logging trucks, gravel trucks, lowbeds, and fuel trucks) must
call at minimum every two km’s, preferably every km when traffic is near,

regardless of direction of travel.

Radio Calling protocol — all other vehicles, regardless of direction of travel:

. Must call every km when within three km’s of oncoming radio assisted traffic.
o As a courtesy, should call every five km’s.
. As a courtesy, identify themselves: pick-up, low-bed, fuel truck, grader, etc. (i.e.

“pick-up... North Shore ... 2 km... Up”).
Convoy calling:

o The lead vehicle is responsible for calling for all vehicles within the convoy. (i.e.
“Convoy of 4 pickups...North Shore...13 km...UP”)

Remember, roads are radio assisted — not radio controlled, drive accordingly!
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SCHEDULE C
WHISTLER TRAIL STANDARDS
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